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2011 W Tokyo

2011 YCP Solidiance

2012

YCP Management Southeast Asia Pte.
2013 Ltd. YCP Solidiance Pte. Ltd.
Director

1982 2013 ) -
CEO 10 Director

YCP Holdings Limited Y Asset
2013 11 |Management Limited

Director

YCP Hong Kong Limited YCP
2013 11 |Solidiance Limited

Director

Aoyama Sweets Factory Thailand

2014
0 Co., Ltd. Director
YCP Solidi ., Ltd.
2015 ? Solidiance Co., Ltd
Director
2015 N?turali Hong Kong Limited
Director
YCP Education Limited
2017 }
Director
2017 11 ATOMS
2018 ARUKI
YCP Solidiance
2018 rat
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2019

2019

2019

2019

2020

2020

2020

2021

2021

2022

SOLIA

YCP Dining Singapore Pte. Ltd.
Director
Go Food Service Pte. Ltd. Director

YCP RLA Trading
YCP Solidiance
YCP Solidiance Limited Director

YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
CEO
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1990
1994

1990 10 Hewlett Packard Co., Limited
Xerox Engineering Systems, Inc.

1992
1995 A.T. Kearney

C. Melchers Consulting GmbH
1997

Head of Greater China

Chase.com, The Chase Manhattan

2000 Bank

Vice President

2000 11 |McKinsey & Co

Master Alliance Co., Ltd. Managing

2002 .
Director
2006 Booz Allen Hamilton
2014 KPMG Transactions Services Limited
2015 D!gltaura Advisory Co., Ltd.
Director
Chong Kin Group Holdings Ltd.
2016 Independent Non-Executive
Director
1968 o 5.000
12 2016 12 YCP Hong Kong Limited YCP
Solidiance Limited
2018 T?m Jai International Co. Limited
Director
2018 10 UMEOX Innovations Co., Ltd.
Director
Principal Lecturer: HKU SPACE
2018 11 InsFltute for Chln? Business
Senior Programme Director
YCP Holdings Limited Y Asset
2019 Management Limited
Director
2019 Cyberport Entrepreneurship Centre

Advisory Group Member
Entrepreneurial Leaders Institute,
2020 Wycliffe Hall, University of
Oxford Advisor

Chartered Management Institute

2020 Board Member

2020 H?xon Green Capital Limited
Director

2020 Association of Family Offices in
Asia Board Advisor

2001 YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
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1979

1979

1992 Rodamas Group Director
Business Compass Consultancy

1996

1998 10 |[Consolidated Foods Australia
Limited

Managing Director CEO

2001 ABR Holdings Limited CEO
2002 12 Intraco Limited CEO

APEC Business Advisory

2003 )
Council Member

2005 Heartware Network Trustee
Singapore Customs Advisory
2005 Committee

Committee Member

Singapore Business Federation

2007 12
CEO
Singapore International

1951 2008 _ )
7 19 Arbitration Centre Sole Member -

Youth Business Singapore

2008 B
Chairman
APEC Business Advisory Council

2009 for APEC Year 2009
National Youth Achievement Award

2011 Singapore (NYAA)
Advisory Board

2011 Barterfli Holdings Pte Ltd
Chairman

2011

2012 SG21ST Pte Ltd Director

2012

2013 Nicore Resources Pte Ltd
Director

2013 10 |Visionedge Technologies Pte Ltd
Chairman

2014

JETRO

2016 Regina Global Holdings Pte Ltd

Chairman
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2016 11 [Asia Entrepreneurs Exchange
Chairman

2017 Temasek Polytechnic
Distinguished Adviser

2017

2017 ASTORISE MEDICAL Pte Ltd
Chairman

2017 L Crown Systems Pte Ltd
Chairman

2019 Blue Aqua International Pte Ltd
Corporate Adviser

2019 Stem-Cell United Limited
Adviser

2019 Luxcer echnology (Asia) Pte Ltd
Director

2020 ETQ Global Pte Ltd Adviser

2020 ETQ Global Pte Ltd
Director

2020 12 |[Silver Joy Pte Ltd
Director

2021 Link Capital Pte Ltd
Adviser

2021 10 |Agri Biotech Knowledge Centre
Limited Director

2022 YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
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2003
2004 10 57
2010 LL.M.
2011 LL.M.
1980 ~
5 24
2004 10
2004 10
2011 10
2012 10
2023 YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2023 17 2023 12
2023 17 2024 12
2022 31 2023 12
2023 17 2024 12
CEQ
CEO
CEQ
Co0
CFO
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®
12
12 12
12 12
12 12
7 7
CEO CEO
a.
b.
C.
d.
e.
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))

220 370 300 60
(29) (49) (40) ®)
39 - 43 -
[©) ) ®) )
259 370 343 60
(€D (49) (45) ®)

2410
Ernst & Young

))

398 194 513 41
(52) (26) (68) ®)
) &) ) )
398 194 513 41
(52) (26) (68) ®)
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®
a.
2022 31
a
724 225 499
(96) (30) (66) 0)
82 82
(11) (11) . .
b
C
5
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)) ( ))
712 ] _
(95) &)
12,502 8,858
(1,659) (1,175)
) |( ( )
) )
- 4,871
) (646)
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) 131
193
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193
132
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2022 12 31 2021
2022 1 1 2022 12 31
IFRS 1967
( 38 59
(
( 32 12 )
134 2022 12 30
132.70
133

IFRS
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2022 12 31
2022 2021
5 85,559 11,354 73,113 9,702
25,218 3,346 20,473 2,717
60,341 8,007 52,640 6,985
5 5,615 745 151 20
13,196 1,751 10,517 1,396
39,857 5,289 33,973 4,508
275 36 435 58
12,628 1,676 7,866 1,044
7 27 4 3 0
8 284 38 368 49
34 5 51 7
6 12,337 1,637 7,552 1,002
10 1,938 257 2,561 340
10,399 1,380 4,991 662
10,391 1,379 4,951 657
8 1 40 5
10,399 1,380 4,991 662
/ 11 51.72 68.64 31.05 41.21

/ 11 51.72 68.64 31.05 41.21
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2022 12 31
2022 2021
10,399 1,380 4,991 662
5,621 746 1,305 173
59 8 31 4
5,680 754 1,336 177
29 2 0 6 1
2 0 - -
5,676 753 1,342 178
4,723 627 3,649 484
4,719 626 3,614 480
4 1 35 5

4,723 627 3,649 484

65/306



EDINETOIOICIC)
O000000000000000000000C0(E37220)
ooo0000

YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2022 12 31

2022 2021 2022 2021

12 6,157 817 926 123 - - - -
12 6,993 928 4,019 533 - - - -
13 35,672 4,734 13,687 1,816 - - - -

14 5,332 708 1,603 213 13 2 15 2
15 - - - ~ 20,685 2,745 13,749 1,824
17 - - 304 40 - - 444 59
16 28 4 - - - - - -

18 13,214 1,753 8,858 1,175 13,214 1,753 8,858 1,175

21 1,763 234 871 116 - - - -
28 1,915 254 1,339 178 - - - -

71,074 9,432 31,607 4,194 33,912 4,500 23,066 3,061

19 5,221 693 2,539 337 - - - -
20 11,483 1,524 7,786 1,033 - - - -
20 1,126 149 942 125 - - - -

21 5,088 675 2,314 307 18,239 2,420 1,504 200

22 - - - - 452 60 522 69
23 23,473 3,115 38,661 5,130 4,811 638 27,818 3,691

46,391 6,156 52,242 6,933 23,502 3,119 29,844 3,960

24 5,482 727 2,533 336 - - - -
25 18,887 2,506 11,256 1,494 2,377 315 2,360 313
22 - - - - - 11,737 1,557
26 4,307 571 5,494 729 - - - -
27 2,516 334 2,271 301 - - - -

1,572 209 1,561 207 - - 78 10

32,764 4,348 23,115 3,067 2,377 315 14,175 1,881

13,627 1,808 29,127 3,865 21,125 2,803 15,669 2,079

84,701 11,240 60,734 8,059 55,037 7,303 38,735 5,140
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2022 12 31

2022 2021 2022 2021

25 2,150 285 545 72 - - - -
26 12,610 1,673 7,101 942 - - - -
27 4,612 612 1,927 256 - - - -
28 1,306 173 229 30 - - - -
29 106 14 125 17 - - - -

20,784 2,758 9,927 1,317 - - - -

63,917 8,482 50,807 6,742 55,037 7,303 38,735 5,140

30 41,182 5,465 32,993 4,378 41,182 5,465 32,993 4,378
31 22,621 3,002 17,704 2,349 13,855 1,839 5,742 762

63,803 8,467 50,697 6,727 55,037 7,303 38,735 5,140
114 15 110 15 - - - -

63,917 8,482 50,807 6,742 55,037 7,303 38,735 5,140
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2022 12 31
31 32
2022 1 1 32,993 1,972 963 20,527 123 11 50,697 110 50,807
(4,378)  ( 262) ( 128)  (2,724) (16) (D (6,727) 15)  (6,742)
- - - 10,391 - - 10,391 8 10,399
- - - (1,379) - - (1,379) @  (1,380)
' - - 5,617 - - 2 5,615 4 5,619
- - ( 745) - - ) ( 745) 0)  ( 746)
_ — 59 - - - 59 - 59
- - ) - - - Q) - ()
2 - - - - - 2 2 - 2
_ - - - - (0) (0) - ©
- - 5,676 10,391 - 4 4,719 4 4,723
- - ( 753)  (1,379) - () (626) () (627)
30 2,641 - - - - - 2,641 - 2,641
(350) - - - - - (350) - (350)
5,759 - - - - - 5,759 - 5,759
30
(764) - - - - - (764) - (764)
30 211 - - - - - 211 - 211
( 28) - - - - - ( 28) - ( 28)
32 - - - - 198 - 198 - 198
_ _ - - (26) - (26) - (26)
2022 12 31 41,182 1,972 6,639 30,918 321 7 63,803 114 63,917
(5,465)  ( 262) ( 88l)  (4,103) (43) (D (8,466) (15)  (8,482)
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2022 12 31
31 32
2021 1 1 - 5,169 368 15,576 - 5 21,108 75 21,183
- (686) (49)  (2,067) - (D (2,801) (10) (2,811)
- - - 4,951 - - 4,951 40 4,991
- - - (657) - - (657) ©) (662)
- - - 1,300 - - - 1,300 5 1,305
- - ( 173) - - - ( 173) [6)) ( 173)
_ — 31 - - - 31 - 31
- - «9 - - - (D) - «9
- - - - - - 6 6 - 6
- - - - - H (GR) - ()
- - 1,331 4,951 - 6 3,614 35 3,649
- - ( 1) (657) - (D (480) ) (484)
7,141 7,141 - - - _ _ Z Z
30
(948)  ( 948) - - - - - - -
30 28,692 - - - - - 28,692 - 28,692
(3.807) - - - - - (3.807) - (3.807)
30 168 - - - - - 168 - 168
( 22) - - - - - ( 22) - ( 22)
32 - - - - 123 - 123 - 123
- - - - (16) - (16) - (16)
30 2,672 - - - - - 2,672 - 2,672
( 355) - - - - - ( 355) - ( 355)
2021 12 31 32,993 1,972 963 20,527 123 11 50,697 110 50,807
(4,378)  ( 262) ( 128) (2,724) (16) (D (6,727) (15) (6,742)

69/306



EDINETOOOO

ODOo00oDOo0oDoooooo0boogOooo(esr220)

Ooooood
YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2022 12 31
31 32
2022 1 1 32,993 1,972 867 8,458 123 38,735
(4,378) ( 262) ( 115) 1,122) @16)  (5,140)
- - - 13,276 - 13,276
- - - (1,762) - (1,762)
- - 5,361 - - 5,361
- - ( 711) - - 1y
- - 5,361 13,276 - 7,915
( 711) 1,762) (1,050)
30 2,641 - - - - 2,641
(350) - - - - (350)
30 5,759 - - - - 5,759
(764) - - - - (764)
30 211 - - - - 211
¢ 28) - - - - ¢ 28)
32 - - - - 198 198
- - - - (26) (26)
2022 12 31 41,182 1,972 6,228 21,734 321 55,037
(5,465) ( 262) ( 826) (2,884) 43)  (7,303)
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2022 12 31
31 32
0 - - - - 0
(V) - - - - ©
- - - 1,125 - 1,125
- - - ( 149) - ( 149)
- - 520 - - 520
- - ( 69) - - ( 69)
- - 520 1,125 - 1,645
_ - ( 69) ( 149) - ( 218)
- 5,169 347 9,583 - 14,405
- (686) ( 46) (1,272) - (1,912)
30 7,141 7,141 - - - -
(948) ( 948) - - - -
30 28,692 - - - - 28,692
(3.807) - - - - (3,807)
30 168 - - - - 168
« 22) - - - - ( 22)
32 - - - - 123 123
- - - - (16) (16)
30 2,672 - - - - 2,672
( 355) - - - - ( 355)
2021 12 31 32,993 1,972 867 8,458 123 38,735
(4,378) ( 262) ( 115) (1,122) (16)  (5,140)
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2022 12 31
2022 2021
12,337 1,637 7,552 1,002
7 27 4 3 0
4,871 646 107 14
5
5 74 10 18 2
07 31 4 121 16
6 1,023 136 686 91
6 3,225 428 3,632 482
6 335 45 281 37
6 2 0 6 1
6 56 7 44 6
6 - - 3 0
6 67 9 1 0
6 2 0 73 10
6 424 56 - -
6 9 1 5 1
6 - - 52 7
6 - - 236 31
8 284 38 368 49
16 2 0 - -
17 32 4 51
29 5 1 16 2
32 198 26 123 16
5 455 60 - -
12,529 1,663 12,882 1,709
215 29 475 63
196 26 250 33
2,558 339 739 98
180 24 1,321 175
1,547 205 789 105
1,941 258 2,289 304
13,298 1,765 14,125 1,874
2,341 311 2,351 312

10,957 1,454 11,774 1,562
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16
33
18

12
34

23

30

27
30

23

27
1,546
998
48

30

16,165
691

37
144

19,269

2,641
211
9,377
10,461
3,148
100

184
2,086
10,398
38,513

4,642

23,473

205
132

2,145
92

2,557

350
28
1,244
1,388
418
13

24
277
1,380
5,111

616

3,115
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3
264
123

1,116

w

1,502

28,692
2,532
2,860
5,520
3,604

104
168
264

19,360
29,632
9,678
797

38,513

199

3,807
336
380
733
478

14
22
35

2,569
3,932
1,284

106

5,111
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2022 12 31
1.
1.1
2021
Y Asset Management Limited
( YAM
#05-21
JDR 2021 12 21
2022 12 31

1,2
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2022 12 31

1.1

#
YCP 29,800,000 - 100
Solidiance
YCP Solidiance 918,000 - 100
Limited
YCP Solidiance 5,469,864 - 100
(Shanghai)
Limited ( )
YCP Solidiance 638,469 100 -
Pte. Ltd.
YCP Solidiance, 5,000,000 - 100
Co., Ltd.
YCP Solidiance 200,000 - 100
Limited
Auctus Advisors 600,000 - 90
Private Limited (2021 :0)
*
YCP Investment 9,241,176 100 -
Limited (2021
:0)
SOLIA 10,000,000 - 100
(2021
:100)
10,000,000 - 100
(2021 : (2021

YCP Lifemate 40,000,000 ) :100)
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2022 12 31
1.
1.1
#
55,000,000 - 100
10,000,000 - 100
(2021
:0)
YCP Dining 812,060 - 100
Singapore Pte. (2021
Ltd. :100)
Go Food Service 450,000 - 100
Pte. Ltd. (2021
Go Food :100)
#i#
J-Foods Hong 20,360,966 - 100
Kong Limited (2021
:100)
YCP RLA 35,000,000 - 55
Trading (2021
:55)
4,750,000 - 100
(2021 : (2021
9,000,000 ) :50)
ARUKI 10,000,000 - 100
ARUKI (2021
) :50)
BARC 9,000,000 - 100
BARC (2021
) :50)
# 2021 12 31 2022 12 31

H
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2022 12 31
1.
1.1
* 10
33(c)
1.2
YAM
2021
YAM

JDR
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2022 12 31
1.
1.2
(a) 2021
YAM
(b) 2021 YAM
)
YAM
(ii) YAM
7,141,000 30

15,881,275 YAM

2021

2.1

SFRS(1) IFRS
SFRS(1)  IFRS

SFRS(I) IFRS IFRS
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2022 12 31
2.
2.2
2022 1 1
2.3
IFRS 17 : 2023 1 1
IFRS 17 : 2023 1 1
IAS 1 IFRS 2 :
2023 1 1
IAS 8 : 2023 1 1
IAS 12 :
2023 1 1
IFRS 16
2024 1 1
IAS 1 : 2024 1 1
IAS 1 : 2024 1 1
IFRS 10 IAS 28

IFRS 17 :IFRS 17 IFRS 9 -
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2022 12 31

2.4

2.5
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2.5

2.6
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2.8
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2.8

2.9
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2022 12 31

2.9
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2022 12 31

2.10

20%
10% 33%

20% 33%
16% 50%
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2022 12 31

2.11

(10 )

89/306



EDINETOOOO
ODOo00oDOo0oDoooooo0boogOooo(esr220)

ooo0000
YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2022 12 31
2.
2.11
10
10
2.12
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2022 12 31
2.
2.13
@
(D ( )
(i1) (Fvocl)

FVOCI
FVOCI
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2022 12 31
2.
2.13
@
(i)

(b)

FVOCI
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2022 12 31
2.
2.13

(b)
2.14

12
12
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2022 12 31

2.14

90

2.15
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2022 12 31
2.
2.15
@
( )
10
2.12
)
( )
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2022 12 31
2.
2.15
©
12
2.16
2.17

2.18
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2022 12 31
2.
2.21
@ -
() -
(M
(i)
©
(D

©)
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2.
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Q) -
2.22
)
2.23

@
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2022 12 31
2.
2.23

@

( MPF )
MPF
MPF
MPF
)] -
2003 13
(
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2022 12 31
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2 73
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14 - 3
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2021 12 31 2022 1 1 19,626,676 32,993
g 364,400 2,641
g - 211
h 1,330,900 5,759
2022 12 31 21,321,976 41,182
#
(@) 2021 0.75
2021
0.75
(b) 2021 i
YAM
i YAM
YAM 14,550,000 0.033 1,331,275
(c) 2021 10 10 21 180,000 32,462
168,000
(d) 2021 11 16 32,462 162,000
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28,530,000
™ 4,083,000
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Pre-IP0O Pre-IP0
2021
Pre-IPO i
ii
Post-1P0 Post-1P0
2022
10
Post-IPO i
ii
i
Pre-1P0 Post—IP0
2021 1 1 - - - -
5.00 1,088,579 - -
5.00 3,201 - -
2021 12 31 2022 5.00 1,085,378 - -
1 1
5.00 155,500 4.31 165,000
5.00 298,533 - -
2022 12 31 5.00 942,345 4.31 165,000
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2022 12 31

)

2022 12 31 2021 12 31

1
2022 2021

2024 12 21 2027 12 20 5.00 789,845 1,085,378

2024 12 21 2027 12 20 5.00 152,500 -

2025 10 1 2028 9 30 4.31 165,000 -

1,107,345 2021
11,085,378
1,107,345 2021 :1,085,378 5,422,875

2021 :5,426,890
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2022 12 31
32.
298,688
0.93 2021 :851,954 0.78
2022 12 31 198,000 2021
123,000
Post-1P0 Pre-IPO
2022 2022 2021
% 4.37 4.37 4.37
% 41.12 41.57 39.01
% 0.36 2.43 1.17
6.00 5.72 6.50
3.98 5.89 4.96
33.
(@) 2022
1,380,000,000 10,304,000
(b) 2022 ARUKI 75
300,000,000 2,071,000
©) 2022 11
90 2022 12
10
10
10
10
100

10
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7,535,000
5,759,000
24
127,440,000 1,546,000
154,000 100
1,205,000
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2022 12 31
33.
2022
ARUKI
12 4,108 995 163 5,266
12 1,587 479 140 2,206
14 45 933 2,982 3,960
28 133 65 242 440
302 66 - 368
553 211 3,147 3,911
990 328 1,123 2,441
1,674 1,291 780 3,745
1,210 268 126 1,604
459 367 3,774 4,600
3,748 2,458 - 6,206
27 1,587 479 140 2,206
- - 36 36
28 140 315 750 1,205
2,248 481 3,751 6,480
8,056 2,258* 12,369* 22,683
- 668 - 668
10,304 2,071 16,120 28,495
10,304 2,071 7,535 19,910
30(h) - - 5,759 5,759
25 - - 360 360
25(c) - - 2,466 2,466
10,304 2,071 16,120 28,495
10,304 2,071 7,535 19,910
1,674 1,291 780 3,745

8,630 780 6,755 16,165
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2022 12 31
33.
2021
12 32 50 82
12 50 543 593
14 - 242 242
28 293 2 295
- 42 42
49 - 49
14 131 145
89 - 89
4 - 4
218 23 241
1,897 - 1,897
27 49 543 592
1,641 444 1,197
1,795 761 2,556
154 1,205 1,359
154 1,205 1,359
154 1,205 1,359
89 - 89
#
154 - 154
89 1,205 1,116
* ARUKI 12,369,000
2,258,000
#
2022 12 31
5,795,000 65,000 ARUKI
2,108,000 194,000
860,000 138,000
ARUKI 2022 2022 12 31
90,223,000 9,152,000
2021 12 31
1,022,000 10,000

1,109,000 91,000
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2022 12 31
34.
2022 12 31 7,000,000
53,000 Solidiance Consulting GmbH
2021 12 31 Aoyama Sweets Factory Thailand
Co. 300,000 11,000
2022 2021
12 - 7
41 3
16 17
2 -
16 8
40 3
27 3
28 -
1 —
21 29
74 18
53 11
2022 2021
53 11
16 8
37 3
35.
@
4,686,000 2021 : 3,499,000 4,686,000 2021

3,499,000
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2022 12 31
35.
(b)
(
)
2021 1 1 4,865 14,618
3,604 2,660
3,499 -
33 593 1,897
872 -
104 259
104 259
121 -
162 1,260
2021 12 31 2022 1 1 4,198 12,595
3,148 1,084
4,686 -
33 2,206 6,206
34) - 28
401 -
100 184
100 184
31 -
382 772
2022 12 31 7,128 16,917
©)

2022 2021
1,044 372
3,248 3,708

4,292 4,080
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2022 12 31
36.
@
2022 2021
2,835 3,467
15 9
2,850 3,476
37.
2022 2021
- 12,502 8,858
- 712 -
11,483 7,786
3,095 2,517
23,473 38,661
51,265 57,822
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2022 12 31

37.
2022 2021
5,482 2,533
10,028 5,805
16,917 12,595
7,128 4,198
39,555 25,131

38.
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2022 12 31
38.
2022 12 31
2022 12 31 2021 12 31
2022 12 31
12,502 - - 12,502
- - 712 712
12,502 - 712 13,214
2021 12 31
8,858 - - 8,858
2021
2021 12 31 2022 -
691
21

2022 12 31 712
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2022 12 31
39.
26
100
169,000 2021
126,000 /
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2022 12 31
39.
2022 12 31
12
1 2 3
2022 12 31
* - - - 11,555 11,555
. _ _ _ 1,126 1,126
_ *k 3,095 3,095
23,473 B, _ - 23,473

26,568 - - 12,681 39,249
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2022 12 31
39.
12
1 2 3
2021 12 31
_ - - 7,842 7,842
_ - - 942 942
- o 2,517 - - - 2,517
38,661 - - - 38,661
41,178 - - 8,784 49,962

20

**

20
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2022 12 31
39.
( )
1
1 5 5
2022
- 5,482 - - 5,482
- 8,751 1,277 - 10,028
1,456 3,009 11,445 1,617 17,527
- 3,037 3,090 1,293 7,420
1,456 20,279 15,812 2,910 40,457
2021
- 2,533 - - 2,533
- 5,805 - - 5,805
1,724 3,953 6,267 1,117 13,061
- 2,368 1,968 - 4,336

1,724 14,659 8,235 1,117 25,735
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2022 12 31
39.
2022 12 31 18
2022 / 2021 /
26 29/25 29 31/27
2022
18
12,502 625
712 36
13,214 661
2021
18
8,858 443
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2022 12 31

39.
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2022 12 31
40.
2022 12 31
2022 12 31
2022 2021
41,182 32,993
22,621 17,704
63,803 50,697
41.
2022 11 11 468,000
2023 17
2,340,000 18,000
2022 11 22
E-Vets 100
320,000,000 2,457,000
2023
100% 90

EVS
205,100,000 1,575,000
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2022 12 31
41.
100 330,000,000 2,486,000
42.

2023 24
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

Notes 2022 2021
USE'000 LUS5000
Ravenue 5 85,559 73,113
Cosl of sales (25.218) (20.473)
Gross profit 60,341 52,640
Other income and gains, na 5 5,615 151
Selling and distribution expenses (13,196) {10,517}
Administrative expenses (30.857) (33,873)
Other operating expenses, net (275) (435)
OPERATING PROFIT 12,628 7866
Finance income 7 27 3
Finance costs ] (284) (368}
Share of (loss)profit of a joint venture and associales (34) 51
PROFIT BEFORE TAX L3} 12,337 7552
Income ax expanse 10 {1.038) (2,561
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 10,389 4,981
Attribuiable to:
Owners of the parent 10,381 4,951
MWen-controlling interests 8 44
10,399 4,881
2022 2021
uss LSS
Earnings per share attributable to owners of the parent
Basic eamings par share (cents) 11 51.72 31.05
Diluted eamings per share {cents) 11 51.72 31.05

- 10 -
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income (continued)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

Note 2022 2021
USE'000 US5000

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 10,309 4,991

OTHER COMPREHEMSIVE LOSS

Other comprefansive ncoma that may be reclassified to
oot or loss in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on transiation of financial statemeants {5,621) {1,305)
Share of other comprehensive loss of associates {5%) (31}

Mat cther comprehensase loss that may be reclassified 1o
profit of loss in subsequent perinds {5.680) (1,3386)

Other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified to
profit or loss in subsequent pariods:
Remeasuremant loss on defined benefit liabilities, net of tax 29 2 {6p
Exchange difference on translation of tnancial statements 2 -

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR. NET

OF TAX (5,678 (1,342)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 4,723 38440
Attribulable to:

Cravners of the parent 4718 3814

MNon-comralling interests 4 35

4723 3649

=11 -

177/306



EDINETOOOO
ODOo00oDOo0oDoooooo0boogOooo(esr220)
oOoOooodn

YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Conscolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2022

Hotes Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
UISE'000 USE'000 Uss000 UEE000
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 12 6,157 926 - -
Right-of-usa assats 12 6,993 4,018 - -
Goodwill 13 35672 13,687 - -
Othier intangible assets 14 5332 1.603 13 15
Invesiments in subsidiarias 15 - - 20,885 13,749
Invesiments in associates 7 - 304 - 444
Investment in a jaint veniure 16 28 - - -
Equity investments at fair value
(hraugh profit or loss 18 13214 §,858 13,214 8,858
Prepayments, deposits and other o A
receivablas 21 1763 ar
Deferred 12x assels 28 1815 1,339 - -
Tatal non-current assels 71,074 31,807 @2 23,066
CURRENT ASSETS
Inventones 19 52 2,538 - -
Trade receivablas 20 11,483 7,786 - -
Contract asseis 20 1.126 a4z = =
Prepayments, deposits and other
recaivables Fil 5,088 2314 18,230 1.504
Loan 1o a subsidiary 22 - - 452 522
Cash and bank balances 23 23473 38,861 4 811 27,818
Tatal current assels 45,391 52,242 23,502 28,844
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade payables 24 5482 2533 = =
Other payables and accruals 25 18,887 11.256 2377 2,360
Loan from a subsidiary 22 - - - 11,737
Interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings 28 4,307 5454 - -
Lease liabilies 27 2516 2271 - -
Tax payable 1,572 1,561 - -]
Total current lisbilities 32,784 23,115 2377 14,175
MET CURRENT ASSETS 13,627 29,127 21,125 15,669
TOTAL ASSETS LESS
CURREMNT LIABILITIES B4, 701 60,734 55,037 38,735

=12 -
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (continued)
As at 31 December 2022

Hotes Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
WS$'000 US3'000 USS$'000 US3000

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Other payables and accruals 25 2,150 545 - -
Interast-bearing bank and other =

borrowings 26 12 610 7,101 -
Lease liabilibes 27 4,612 1.927 - -
Deferred tax liabilitias 28 1,306 228 - -
Defined benelit liabiliies 29 106 125 = -
Tatal non-current liabikties 20,784 9.827 - +=
MET ASSETS 83917 50,807 55,037 38,735
EQUITY
Equity attributable 1o owners of

the parent
Share capital 30 41,182 32,983 41,182 32,883
Reserves N 2262 17,704 13,855 5. 742

63,803 50,697 55,037 38,735
MNon-controlling interests 114 110 - -
TOTAL EQUITY 63,817 50,807 55,037 38,735
= 13 -
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

Motes 2022 2021
USS000 USS'000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax 12,337 7,552
Adjustments for:
Bank interest incoma 7 (27} {3)
Fair value (gain)loss on an equity investiment al fair value
theough profit of loss 5 (4,871) 107
Gain'{loss) on disposal and deregistration of subsidianies
and businesses 5 (T4} 18
Covid-19-related rent concessions from lessors 27 (31} {121}
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 5] 1.023 G686
Depreciation of right-of-use assats & 3,225 3832
Amortisation of other Intangible assets B 335 281
Wirite-off of properiy, plant and equipmeant B 2 B
Wirite-off of inventones -] 56 42
Wiite-off of intangible assels ] - 3
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment -] &7 1
Gain on termination of leasas 3] {2} (73)
Provision for loss on liquidation of a8 subsidiary B 424 -
Provision for expected credit losses =] a 5
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 5] - &2
Impairment of right-of-use assels B - 236
Finance costs -] 284 368
Share of loss of 3 jont vanture, nat 16 2 =
Share of loss/{profit) of associates, net 17 32 {51)
Dafined Denefl expenses 28 (5) 16
Equity-settied share oplion expanse a2 198 123
Gain on remeasurement of investment in assocate (o fair
value upon business combination achieved in slages 5 {455) -
Operating cash inflows before changes in working
capital 12,528 12,882
Changes in working capital;
Decrease in prepayments, deposits and olher recaivables 215 475
Increase in contract assets (196} (2507
Inciease in inventores (2.558) (739)
Increase in rade receivables {180) (1.321)
Increase in rade payables 1,547 759
Increase In other payables and accruals 1,941 2,289
Cash flows generatad from operations 13,208 14,125
Income tax paid (2,241} {2,351)
Net cash flows generated from operating activities 10,957 11.774

- 18 -
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows [continued)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

MNotes 2022 2021
US5'000 Us5000

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Interesl recaived 27 3
Deposit pad for acquisition of a subsidiany (1.546) -
Purchases of property, plant and equipment 12 {998) {284}
Purchases of other intangible assets 14 (48) (123)
Investment in a joint veniure 18 {30 -
Acquisitions of subsidiaries and a business 33 (16.165) (1,116}
Acguesition of an available-for-sale investment 18 (691} -
Proceed from disposal of items of properly, plant and

equipment 12 1 -
Proceed from disposal of subsidiaries 34 ar 3
Decreasef{increase) in pledged time deposils 23 144 (5}
Net cash flows used in investing activities (19,269} {1,502}
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issuance of shares 30 2,641 28692
Share issue expenses (211) (2,.532)
Mew mteresi-bearing bank and other borrowings 9,377 2,880
Repayment of interest-bearing bank and other bomowings (10.461) (5,520)
Principal portion of lease payments (3,148) {3,804)
Interest on lease liabilities 27 (100) (104)
Repurchase of shares 30 - {168}
Interest paid {184) (264}
Met cash flows (used injigenerated from financing

activities {2,088) 18,360

NET (DECREASE)INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS (10,398) 28,832
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 36,513 9,878
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net (4.642) (TeT7)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 23 23473 38513
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Mobes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION AND GROUP REORGANISATION
14 Corporate information

YCP Holdings (Global) Limited (the "Company”) was incarporated as a public limitad liability
company domiciled in Singapore on 5 March 2021

The Company’s Japanese Depositary Receipts ("JDR") were listed on the Growlh market
(formerly known as Mothers market) of Tokyo Stock Exchange ("TSE") on 21 December
2021.

The registered office of the Company Is located at 3 Fraser Street, DUO Tower, 805-21,
Singapore 189352. In the opinicn of the directars, the Company's immediate and ulimate
holding company is ¥ Asset Managemant Limited ("YAM®), a company incorporated in Hong
Kang,

The principal activities of the Company are those of imvestment holding and provision of
management senices o group companies.

The Company’s subsidianes are involved in the foliowing principal activities:

. provision of management and advisory services;

. development, production and sale of natural and onganic personal care products;
. operation of veternary hospital and pet care business,

. operation of restauranis and franchise system in the food and beverage indusiry;
. production, sale and distributon of food products:

. trading and manufacturing of Japanese-styla dessans and confactionary products;
. provision of supporting services for columbarium; and

® provision of aducation services

The Company was incorporated for the purpose of acquinng the existing operating group of
subsidiaries as deladed below, pursuant to the Reorganisation Exerdse as disclosed in
hMote 1.2

- 20 -
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION AND GROUP REORGANISATION (continued)

1.1

Corporate information {continued)

Particulars of principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Y'CP Solickance,
Inc.

YCP Solickances
Lirnited

YCF Solidiance
{Shanghai)
Limited

YCP Solidiance
Pre, Lid.

YCP Solidiance,
Co,, Lid

Y'CP Solidiance
Limited

Auctug Advisons
Private Limited
{“Auscius")*

YCP Investment
Limited

SOLIA, Inc.

{formerly known
as “YGP Lifamata,
Ine."}

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and
aparations

Japan

Hung Kang

The People's
Republic of
China {"PRC")

Singapore

Thailand

United Siates of

America

India

Hong Kong

Japan

Issued
ordinary/

Peorcontage of

reglstered  equity attributable

share capital

Japanese Yen
(“JPY)
28,800,000

United Stales
Dodlar ("USE7)
918,000

Renminbi
{"RMB")
5,469,864

Singapore Dollar

(5607
538,468

Thai Baht
5.000,000

UES5200,000
Indian Rupees
{INRT) 500,000

USE8.241,176

JPY 10,000,000

JPY 10,000,000
{2021:
JPY40,000,000)
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Direct

100

100

{2021

il

100
{2021
N

{2021
100}

(2021
100)

to the Company®  Principal activities
Indirect

Provision of
management and
advisory senvices

Prenision af
managemeant and
advisory senices
Provision of
managemerd and
advisory senices

Provision ol
managemen! and
advisory senices
Provision of
management and
advisory senices
Provision of
managemeni and
advisary senices
Provision of
management and
advisory senices

Investment holding

Deveslopmeent,
produclion and sale
al natural and
arganic products

Operation of
veterinary hospital
and pat care
business
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Mobes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION AND GROUP REORGANISATION (continued)

1.1 Corporate information {continued)
Place of
incorporation/ Issued
registration ordinary/ Percentage of
and registered  equity attributable
Hamo aparations share capital  to the Company®  Principal activitics
Direct  Indirect
Lifemate Japan JPYS5,000,000 - 100 Operation of
Veterinary veterinary hospital
Hospital Group,
Inc.
Lifemate Animal Japan JPY 10,000,000 = 100 Qperation of
Emergency {2021 wveterinary hospital
Centre, Ing. Mil}
YCP Dining Singapore SGDB12,060 = 100  Operation of
Singapore Ple. {2021: restauranits and
Ltd, 100} franchise system in
the Toad and
beverage Indusiry
Go Food Service Singapore S5GD450,000 - 100  Production, sale and
Pte. Lid. ™ {2021: distribution of Tead
100} producls
J-Foods Hong Hong Kong Hong Kong - 100  Operation of
Kong Limited Dollar ("HRE")  (2021: restauranis and
20,360,966 100) franchise system in
the: food and
bevaerage indusiry
YCP RLA Trading Japan JPY.35.000,000 - 55 Trading and
Ine. (2021; production of
55) Japanese-style
contectionery
products
Musashino Gobyo Japan JPY4. 750,000 - 100 Pravision of
KK MG} (2021 (2021 Suppoiting services
JPYS,000.000) 509 for columbarium
B
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Mobes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION AND GROUP REORGANISATION (continued)
1.1 Corporate information {continued)

Place of
incorporation/ Issued
registration ordinary! Percentage of
and registered  equity attributable
Name aperations share capital  to the Company®  Principal activities
Direct  Indirect
Aguki Co, Lid Jopan JPY 10,000,000 - 100  Operation of
(“Aruki™) {2021: restaurants and
50 franchise aystem in
the food and
beverage industry
Barc Co. Lid. Japan JPY 9,000,000 - 100  Operation of
{"Barc”) {2021: restaurants and
50)  tanchise system in
the food and

beverage indusiry

. The percentage of equity attributable 1o the Company for the vear ended 31 December
2022 and 2021 are the same unless otherwise staled

- The Group entered Into several agreements with the non-contrelling sharetwolder 1o obiain
present access lo entire retumna of Go Food. Accordingly, in the opinion of the directors, Go
Food is a whally-owned subsidiary of the Group,

- The Group enlered inta several agreemeants with the non-confrolling shareholders to obtain
the remaining 10% share ownership. Accordingly, in the opinion of the direciors, they are
wholly-owned subsidianes of the Group as discosed in Note 33(c) to the financal
statements.

1.2 The Rearganisation Exercise

Pursuant 1o the Group rearganisation during the previous year as further detailed below, the
Company became the holding company of all companies now comprising the Group. The
Group comprising the Company and ils subsidiaries resulling from ihe recrganisation s
regarded as a continuing entity, accordingly, the consclidated financial stalements have been
prepared as if the Company had always been the holding company of the Group,

Prige to the incorporation of the Company and the complation of the reorganisation exarcise
(the “Recrgamsation Exercise’), the cperating acliviies of the Group were camed out by
¥AM and its subsidianias.

As part of the Reorganisation Exercise, the Company was incorporaied in Sngapore on 5
March 2021, Following the incorporation of the Company, all assets and liabilities including
group management senvice business and its subsidsanes owned by YAM, except for the
derivative financial nstrements, other liablliles and employee share options, were
transferred to the Company, The objective of the Reorganisation Exercise was o establish
the Company as the holding company of the subsidiaries now comprising the Group, in
preparation for the proposed fisting of the Company’s JOR on the Growth market (formerly
known as Mother markel) of the Tokyo Stock Exchange.
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Mobes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION AND GROUP REORGANISATION (continued)
1.2 The Reorganisation Exercise (continued)
The major steps of the Rearganisation Exercise involved the following:

(@) On 5 March 2021, the Company was incorporated as a public company limited by
shares domiciled in Singapore wilth SG01 share capital issue and allotted o YAM,

(B)  On 1 April 2021, the Company entered into a sale and purchase agreement with YAM
in ralation to the acquisition of:

(i) the entire assets and labiliies including the group management service
business owned by YAM, except for the derivalive financiad instruments, other
liahilities and emplayes share options; and

{iiy the entire share ownership of the subsidiares, joinl venlure and associales
owned by YARL.

In consideration for the transfer of the above assets and liabilities, 15,881,275 shares
with a total value of approcamately USST 141,000 (Mote 30) were allatted by the
Company to YAM. As a result, the Company became the holding company of the
subsidianes now comprising the Group.,

The Resrganisation Exercise is considered o be a business combination involving
entities or businesses under commeon controd and is accounted for by applying the
pooling of interests method. Accordingly, the assets and liabilities of these businesses
ard enlities transferred have been induded in the consolidaled financial statemenis al
their carrying amounts. Although the Reorganisation Exercise occurred in 2021, the
consolidated financial statements presenmt the financial position and financial
perdormance as if the businesses had always been consolidated since the beginning
of the eadiast period presented,

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation
The consalidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of fimancal position of
the Company have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Fimancial Reporting
Standards (Inlernational) ("SFRS(1)™) and International Financial Reporting Standards
{"IFRS"). SFRS(l} comprise standards and interpreiations that are equivalent to IFRE.

All refarancas to SFRS(l) and IFRS are subsaquantly refered lo as IFRS in thasa financial
statements unless ohenwise specafied

The consobdated financial slalements have been prepared under the historical cost basis
excepl as disclosed in the accounting policies balaw.,

Tha consalidated financial statements are presented in USS, unless othersise stated.
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Mobes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
22 Adoption of new and amended standards and inferpretations

The accounling palicies adoptad ara cansistent with those of the pravious financial year
except that in the cument financial year, the Group has adopted all the new and amended
stendards which are relevant to the Group and are effective for annual financial paricds
beginning on o after 1 January 2022. The adoption of these standards did not have any
material effect on the financial performance or position of the Group.

2.3 Standards isswed but not yet effective

The Group has not adapted the following standards applicable to the Group that have been
issuad but not vet effective:

Effective for annual
periods beginning

De=scription on or after
IFRS 17: Insurance Conlracts 1 January 2023
Amendments to IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2023
Amendments (o 1AS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of

Aceounting Policies 1 January 2023
Amendmeants to 1AS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates 1 January 2023
Amendments o 1AS 12: Deferred Tax related 1o Assets and

Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction 1 January 2023
Amendmeants o IFRS 18: Leasa Liabidlity in a Sale and Leasaback 1 January 2024
Amendments (o 145 1: Non-cument Liabilities with Covenanis 1 January 2024
Amendments o 1AS 1: Classiication of Liabiklies as Current or

Mon-cument 1 January 2024
Amendments to IFRS 10 and 1AS 28: Sale or Contribution of Assets Date to be

betwean an Investor and s Associate or Joint Venture determined
Amondments to IFRS 17: Initial Application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 8 - Date to be

Comparative Information determined

The directars expect that the adoption of the standards above will have no maternal impact
on ihe financial statements in the year of initial applécaticn.

2.4 Basis of consolidation
The consalidated financial slatements comprise the financial stalements of the company and
entities (including structured entities) controlled by the company and iis subsidiaries, Control
i& achievied when the company:

. Has power over the investes;

. Is exposed, or has rights, to vanable returns from its invoivement with the investee;
and

- Has e ability 1o use its power 10 affect its retums.
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Mobes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
24  Basis of consolidation {continued)

The company réassesses wheather or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances
Indicate that thera are changes to oné or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the company has less than a majorty of the voling rights of an investee, it has power
over the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct
the relevant activities of the Investes unilaterally. The company considers all relevant facts
and circumstances in assessing whather or not the company’s voling rights in an inveslee
are sufficient to give It power, including:

. The size of the company's holding of vating rights relative to the sze and dispersion
of haldings of the olher vate holders,

. Patential voting rights held by the company, other vole holders or other parties;

- Righls arising from other contraciual arrangemaeants; and

= Any addiional facts and circumstances that indicate that the company has, or does
nat have, the current ability o direct the relevant activiies at the time that decisions
need to be made, including woling pattems at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of & subsidiary begins when the company obiains control over the subsidiary
and ceases when ihe company loses control of the subsidiary. Specfically, income and
expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are inciuded in the
consolidaled statement of profil or loss and other comprehensive income lrom the dale ihe
company gains conirol until the date when the company ceases to contnal the subsidiary,

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidianes to bring
their accounting pelicies in lina with the group's accounting policies.,

All imragroup assels and liabilities, equity, incomea, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between the members of the group are efiminated on consolidation.

Maon-controlling inferests in subsidianes are identified separately from the group's equity
therain, Those interests of non-controlling shareholders that are present ownership interesis
entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assats upon liquidation may initizlly be
measured at fair value or at the non-controlling interesis” proportionate share of the fair vales
of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement is made on an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Other non-cenirolling interests are initially measured ai fair
value, Subsequent 1o acquisition, the camying amount of non-controlling interests = the
amount of those interests at initial recognition plus the non-controlling interesis’ share of
subsequent changas in aquity.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are atiributed 1o the
ownars of the company and to ihe non-controlling interests. Tolal comprehensive income of

subsidiaries is attributed o the owners of the company and to the non-controliing mnberests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
24  Basis of consolidation {continued)

A change in the ownership intarést of a subsidiary, withoul a loss of contral, is accounted for
as an equity transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary. it:

-  derecognises the assels (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary at their
carmying amounts at the date when conirol is lost;

= derecognises the camying amount of any non-comroling interast;

= derecognises the cumulative transiation differences recorded in equity;
- recognises the fair value of the consideration recanved;

- recegnisas the fair value of any invesiment retained;

- recognises any surpdus or deficit in profil or loss;

- reclassifies the Group’s share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income to profit or [0Ss of revenue eserves, as approgprate.

2.5 Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration
transfarred is measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assels transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the
former awniers of the acquinee and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether to
measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are present cwnership interests
and entitie their holders 1o a proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at
fair value or at the proportionate share of the acguires's identifiable net assets. Al other
components of non-controlling interests are measwred at fair value, Acquisition-related costs
are expensed as incumed.

The Group determines thal it has aequired a business when the acquired set of activilies and
assets includes an input and 8 substantive process that egether significantly contribute to
the ability to create oulputs.

When the Group acguires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilibes assumed
for appropriale classification and deskgnation in accordance with the contractual terms,
coonomic crcumstances and pertinent conditions as al the acquisition date.  This includes
the separation of embedded derivatives in hast contracis of tha acquires,

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously hald equity interest is
remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss Is recognised in
prafit ar lass.

Any contingent consideration o be transferred by the acquirer s recognised at fair value at
the acquisiion date. Comntingent consaderation classified as an assel of labdity is measured
al fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration
that is classified as equity is nol remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
2.5 Business combinations and goodwill {continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the agaregate of the consideration
transterred, the amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group's previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets
acquired and liabilibes assurmed. If the sum of this consideration and olher lems is lower
than the fair value of the nel assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit o koss as a gain on bargain purchase.

Adter initial recognition, goodwill Is measured al cost less any accumulated impairment
lossas. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carmying value may be impaired. The Group performs iis
annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 Decamber, For the purpase of impairment
testing. goodwall acquired in a business combenation is. from the acquisition date, allocaled
1o each of the Group's cash-generaling units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expecied 10 benefil from the synergies of the combination, Wrespective of whether other
assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairmant is determined by assassing the recoverable amount of the cash-genarating unit
(group of cash-generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-genarating unil (group of cash-generating units) is less than the canying
amount, &n impairment loss is recognised, An imparment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequant period.

Where goodwill has been allocated 10 a cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with
the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is
measured based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and tho portion of the
cash-genarating unit retained

26 Transactions with non-controlling interests

Mon-contralling interest represents the equity in subsidiaries not attributable, directly or
indirectly, to owiners of the Company.

Changes in the Company's ownership interest in a subsidiary thal do nol resull in a loss of
control are accounted for as equity transactions. In such circumstances, the camying
amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interasts are adjusted to reflect the changes
in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any differance between the amount by which the
non-controling interest is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised diracly in equity and atiributed o owners of the Company.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
27 Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investea that is contmiled by the Group, Controd is achievad when the
Group is exposed, of has righls, to vanable returns from its involvemen! with the investes
and has the ability fo affect those retumns through its power over tha investee. Specifically,
the Group controls an investes if, and only il, the Group has.

. Power over the investea (i.e., existing rights that give it the current abiity to direct the
relevant activities of the investes);

. Exposure, or rights, 1o variable returns from its involvement with the invesies;

. The ability to use its powear over the invesiea to affect its retums.

The Group re-assesses whather or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances
indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of coniral.

In the Company's statement of financial position, investments in subsidiaries are accounied
far at cost lass impairmant losses.

2.8 Investmenits in associates and joint venfures

An associale is an enfity in which the Group has a long lerm interest of generally not less
than 20% of the equity voling rights and ovier which il i5 in a position to exercise significant
influence. Significant influenca is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint veniture is a type of joint arrangement whareby the parties that have joint contral of
the arrangemant have rights 1o the nel assets of the joinl venture.  Joinl control = the
contractually agreed sharing of contred of an arrangement, which exisis only when decisions
about the relevan! activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing conlrod,

The Group accounts for its investments in associates and a joint vemure using the equity
method from the date on which it becomes an associate or joint venture,

On acquisition of the invesiment, any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group's
share of the net fair value of the investee's identifiable assels and llablities s accounted for
as goodwill and is induded in the carying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group's share of the nel fair value of the investee’s ientifiable assets and liablliies over the
cost of the investment is included as income in the determination of the entity's share of the
associate and joint venlune's profil of loss in the penod in which the investment is acguired.

Under the equity method, investment in associates and joint ventures is carmied in the balance
sheal at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group's share of net assets of the
associates or joint ventures, The profit or loss reflects the share of results of the operations
of the associates or joint ventures, Distnbutions received from associates and joint ventures
reduce the carmying amount of the investment. Where there has been a change recognised
in other comprehensive income by ihe joint ventures, the Group recognises its share of such
changes In ciher comprehensive income. Unrealised gains and osses resulting from
transactions batween the Group and joint ventures are eliminaled to the extent of the interest
in the associales and joint venlures,
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
2.8 Invesiments in associates and joint ventures (comtinued)

When the Group's share of lasses in an associate and joint venture equals or axceads ifs
interest in the associate of joint venture, the Group doas not recognise further losses, unkess
it has incurred abligations or made paymeants on behalf of the assccate and joint venture,

Adter application of the equity method. the Group determines whather it is necessary to
recognise an addiienal impairment (oss on the Group's investmen] in associales and joint
vantures. The Group detarmines at the end of each reporting period whether there is any
objeclive evidence that the investment in the associate and joint venlure is impaired. i this
is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference batween the
recoverable amount of the associate or pint venture and its carmying value and recognises
the amount in profit or loss.,

The financial stetements of the assccates and joint ventures are prepared as at the same
reporting date as the Company. Where necessary, adjusiments are made 1o bring the
accounting policias in line with thase of the Group.

29 Fareign curréncy

The Company's functional currency iz JPY. These financial staternents are presented in
US%, as the directors of the Company consider that LI5S will fadilitate analysis of the financial
information of the Group. Each entity in the Group determines its awn functional cumency
and items included in the financial statemenis of each enlity are measured using that
functional currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are iniially recorded
using their respective functional curmency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assels and kabilties denominated in foreign currenches are lranslated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period, Differences
arsing on setfement or translation of moneiary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Mon-monatany fems thal are measured In terms of hisloncal cost i a foresgn cuimency ane
translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions, Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are transiated using the exchange rales
at the date when the fair value was measured., The gain or loss arising on translation of a
non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in ling with the recognition of the gain or
loss en change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair
value gain or 0ss s recognised in other comprehensive income of profit or 1055 & aiso
recognised in ofher somprehensive incomea or profit o loss, respectvely),

Consalifated Anancial statements

On consolidation, the assets and liabdities of foreign operations are translated into LSS al
the rate of exchange prevailing at the reporting date and their statements of profil or loss are
translated at exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. The exchange
differences arising on transtation for consolidation are recognised in oiher comprehensive
income, On disposal of a foraign operation, the component of other comprahensive income
redating to that particular forelgn operation is reclassified to profit o loss,
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

210 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipmeant are staled at cost less accumulated depraciation and any
impaiment losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is direclly atinibutable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost
of self-construcied assets include:

. the cost of materials and direct labour;

. any other costs directly atiributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for
their intended use;

. when the Group has an obligation to remowve the asset or restore the site, an estimate
of the costs of dismantiing and removing the itemns and restoring the site an which they
are located; and

* capitalised borrowing costs.

Expenditure incumed after ilems of property, plant and equipment have been put into
aperation, such as repairs and maintenance, is nomally charged o profit or loss in the period
in which it is incumed. In siuations where Ihe recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the camying amount of the assel as a
replacement. Where significant paris of property, plant and equipmen? ane required to be
replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such pars as individual assets with specific
useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-ling basks to write off the cost of each tem of
property, plant and equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as Iolows!

Leasehald improvements Ower the shorter of the lease terms and 20%
Machinery 10% 1o 33%
Fumilure and fixtures 20% 10 33%
Modor vehicles 16% o 50046

Whare parts of an item of proparty, plant and equipmant have differant usaful lives, the cost
of that item is allocaled on a reasonabie basis among the parts and sach part is depreciated
saparately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewad, and
adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part initially recognised Is
derecognised upan disposal or when no future economic benefits are expecled from its use
of disposal, Any gain or loss on disposal o reliremeant recogmised i profit or loss inthe vear
the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the canmying
amount of the relevant asset,

-3 -

197/306



EDINETOOOO
ODOo00oDOo0oDoooooo0boogOooo(esr220)
oOoOooodn

YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Mobes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

2. SUMMARY OF SIGHNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
211 Intangible assets

Intanigible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost
of intangible assels acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. Following initial acquisition, intangible assels are camied at cost less any
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Internally generated
intangible assets, excluding capilalised development cosis, are not capitalised and
expenditure is reflected in profil or loss in the year im which the expenditure is incurred.

The useful lives of intanglble assels are assessed o be either finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with finite kves are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life
and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible assat may
be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an Intangible asset
with a finite wseful life are reviewed al least at each financial year end, Changes in the
expecied useful life or the expecied patterm of consumplion of fulure economic benefils
embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing the amoriisation period or method, as
appropriate, and are Ireated as changes in accounting estimates.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives or not yet available for use are tested for
impairment anrually either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. Such intangible
assets are not amortised,  The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is
reviewed annually to determing whether the indefinite life assessment continues 1o ba
supportable. i not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite 1o finite Is
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are
recognised in profit or boss when the asset is derecognised.

Purchased padents and licenses

The purchased patents and licenses are stated al cost less any impairment bosses and are
amartised on the straight-line basis over their estimated useful ives of 10 years,

Soffware

The purchased software is stated at cost less any impairment losses and is amoriised on the
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 5 years,

Intamet domian rame
The purchased internet domain name 5 stated at cost less any impairment losses. |t has

indefinite useful life as there is no foreseaable limit to the period over which the assel is
expecied (o generate cash flows for the Group.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
211 Inmtangible asseis [continued)
Custamer relafionshins

The customer relalionships acguired through a business combination are recognisad initially
at fair value at the acquisition date. Subseguently, this iMangible asset is camied at cost less
accumulaied amortisation and impairment losses. Amonisation of customer relationships is
calculated using the straight-line melhed over the estimated useful lives, which are
determined to be 10 years.

Brand name

The brand name acquired through @ business combination are recognised initially at fair
value at the acquisition date. Subsequently, this intangible asset is carmied at cost kess
accumulated amortisation and impaiment losses, Amordtisation of brand name s calculated
using the siraight-line method owver Ihe estimated useful lives, which are determined to be 10
years.

212  Impairment of non-financial assels

Whare an indication of impairment exists, or whan annual impairment lesting for an assel is
required (other than inventonies, delermed tax assets and financal assets), the assel's
recoverable amount is estimated.

An assel’s recoverable amount is the highar of the assel's or cash-genarating unil's value in
use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and ks determined for an individual asset, unless
the: asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets, in which casa the recoverable amount is defermined for the cash-
generating unit 1o which the asset bolongs.

An impairment loss is recognised oaly  the camrying amount of an assel exceeds iis
recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimafed future cash flows are
discounted 1o their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific (o the assel,

An impairment loss is charged fa profit or loss in the penod in which it arises in those expense
categories consistent wilth the function of ine impaired asset

An assessment i made at the end of each reporting period as 1o whether there is an
indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have
decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estmated. A preaously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversad only if thera has been
a change in the estimates used (o determine the recoverabls amount of thal assel, bul not
1o an amount higher than tha carmying amount that would have been determined (neat of any
depreciation/amoriisation) had no impairment Ioss Deen recognised for the assel in prior
?aaﬂr:esﬁ reversal of such an impairment loss is credited 1o profi or loss in the period in which
ita "
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2, SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
213  Financial instruments
{a) Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurerment

Financial assets are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to
the contraclual provisions of the financial instrument. The Group determines the
classification of its financial assels at initial recognition,

Al initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the
case of a financial asset not al Financial assets at fair value thrawgh profit or loss
(FWPL), transachon costs that are directly attnbutable o the acquisiion of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets camied at FWPL are expensed In profit or
loss,

Trade receivables are measured at the amount of consideration to which the Group
expects to be entiled in exchange for transfening promised goods or services o a
customer, exduding amounts collatled on behall of a third party, iIf the lrade
receivables do nat contain a significant financing componant at initial recognition,

Subsequent measurerment

Subsequent measurement of debt Instruments depends on the Group’s business
model for managing the asset and the contractual cash Now characlerstics of the assel.
The three measurement categories for dassification of debt instruments are:

(I}  Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets that are held for the collection of confractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are
measured 81 amortised cost. Financial assels at amortised cost are
subsequently measured using the elfective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and l0sses ara recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modiied or impaired.

(i}  Financial assats designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
{FVOCH)

Financial assets that are held for collsction of contraciual cash flows and for
seling the financial assets, where the assels’ cash flows reprasent solely
payments of prncipal and interest, are measured al FVOCI, Financial assels
measured at FVOC) are subsequently measured at fair value, Any gains or
losses from changes in fair value of the financial assets are recognised in ather
comprehensive income, excepl for impairment losses, foreign exchange gains
and losses and inferest calculated using the effective imerest mathod which are
recognised in profit or loss. The cumutative gain or loss previously recognised in
other compreheansive income is reclassified from equity fo profit or loss as a
reciassification adjustment when the financial asset |s derecognised.

200/306



EDINETOOOO
ODOo00oDOo0oDoooooo0boogOooo(esr220)
oOoOooodn

YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Mobes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
213  Financial instruments
{a)  Financial assets (continuead)
Subsequent measuremen! fcontinued)
(iii} Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Assets that do not meet the critaria for amodtised cost or FYOCI are measured
at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt instrument that is subsequently measured al
FVPL and is not part of a hedging relationship is recognised in prafit or loss in
the pericd In which it anses.
|nvestment in equity instruments
This category includes equity invesiments which the Group had not FTevocably elected
to classify at fair valee through other comprehensive income, Dividends on equity
investments classified as financial assets at fair value profit or lcss are also recogmised
as athed income n profit of loss when the nghl of payment has baon established, i is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will low to the Group
ard e amount of the dividend can be measured reliably. For mvestments in agquily
instrumenis which the Group has not elected (o present subsequent changes in fair

value in other comprahensive income, changes in fair value ane recognised in profit or
loss.

Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset is de-recognised where the contractual right to receive cash flows
from the asset has axpired. On de-recogrition of a financal asset in its antiraty, tha
difference between the camying amount and the sum of the consideration recaived and
any cumulative gain or koss that had been recognised in olher comprehensive income
far debt instruments is recognisaed in profit or loss.

(b Financial liabilities
Inifigl recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. The Group determings the
classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition,

All financial iabillies are recognised initially at fair value plus in the case of financial
liabalities not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attnbutabie transaction costs.

The Group's finandal liabilities include trade payatles, ather payables and certain
accruals, interest-bearing bank and other bormowings and lease Eabilitkas,
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
213  Financial instruments {continued)
(b} Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurament

After initial recognition, financial liabiliies not at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gans
and losses are recognised in profit or boss when the liabilities are de-recognised, and

through the amortisation process.
Derecogmition of financial Nabiliies

A financial Nabllity is derecognised when the cbligation under the: liability is dischanged
or cancelled, or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, of the terms of an existing lability are
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition
of the onginad liability and a recognition of a new liabiity, and the difference between
the respective cafrying amounts i recognised in profit of logs,

Offseliing of inancial instruments

Financial assets and iinancil liabilities ane offsel and the net amount is reporaed in ha
consolidzted statement of financial position if there Is a cumently enforceable legal
rights to offse! the recognised amounts and there is an intention 1o sellle on a nat basis,
or lo realise the assels and setile the liabiities simullanecusly.

2.14  Impalrment of financlal assels

The Group recognises an aliowance for expecied credit losses ("ECLs") for all debt
instrurments not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the differenca
between ihe contractual cash flows due in accordance with the confract and all the cash
fiows that the Group expects to receive, discounted &t an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expecled cash fows will include cash Nows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.,

General spproach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a
significant increase in credit rsk sinca initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from defaull events that ara passible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL).
For those credit exposures. for which there has been a significant increase in credit rsk since
initial recognition, a loss allowancs is required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, imespective of the iming of the default (a felime ECL)

Al each reporiing dale, ihe Group assesses whelher the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, When making the assessment, the Group
compares the risk of a defaull cccurring on the financial instrument as at the reporiing date
with the risk of a default ccourming on the financial instrument as at the dale of nitial
recognition and conslders reasonable and supponable information that ks avallable without
undue cost or efford, including historical and forward-looking information,
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
214 Impairment of financial asseis
Ganeral approach (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in defaull when contractual payments are 90 days
pasl due. However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset 1o be in
default when intemal or external information indicates that tha Group is unlikely to receive
the outstanding confractual amounls in full before taking into accouni any credit
enhancaments hedd by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expeciation of recovering the contraciual cash flows.

Debt investments at fair valee through other comprehensive income and financial assats at
amartised cost are subject to impairment undear the general approach and they are classified
within the following stages for measuremant of ECLs excepl for trade receivables and
contract assets which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased significantly since
initsal recognition and for which the loss allowance i3 measured al an amount
equal to 12-month ECLS

Stage 2 —  Financial instruments for which cradil rick has increased significantly sinca mitial
recognition but that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which the
loss allowance is measured al an amount equal to ifetime ECLS

Stage 3— Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or criginated credit-impaired) and for which the loss allowance Is
measured al an amount equal to lifetims ECLs

Simplified approach

For irade receivables and coniract asseis thal do nol contain a significant firancing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significani financing component, the Group applies the simpliied approach in calculating
ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but
instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs al each repoiting date. The
Group has established a provision matrix thet is based on its historical credil loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factoss specific to the deblors and the economic environment.

215 Leases
The Group assesses at contract incaption whethwr a contract 15, or containg, a lease. A
contract s, or conlains, a lease if the contract conveys the right o contral the use of an
identified assel for 8 penod of ime in exchange for conssderaton,
Giup 85 & lesses
The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for
short-term leases and leases of low-value assels. The Group recognises lease liabilities to

make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying
assets,
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
215  Leases (continued)

Group as & lesses (continued)

(a) Right-of-use asseats

Right-of-use asseis ara recognised al the commencement date of the lease (thatis the
date the underying assel is available for use). Righl-ol-use assels are measured al
cost, lass any accumulated depreciation and any impairmeant losses, and adjusted for
any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assels Includes the
amaunt of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lkase payments
made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-
of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-ling basis over the shorler of the lease
terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Buildings S years
Machinery 3to 10 years
Office equipmes 310 5 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the end of the lease term or
the cost reftects (he exarcise of a purchase oplion, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful |fe of the asset,

The right-of-use assels are aiso subject to impaiment. Refer to Note 2,12 Impalrment
of nor-financial assels.

(b)  Lease liabifities

Leasa liabiliies are recognisad at the commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made cwver the lease term. The lease payments include
fwed payments (including in-substance fixed paymenis) less any lease incenlives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounis
expecied o be paid under residual valve guarantees. The lease payments aiso
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably cerain to be exercised by
the Group and payments of penalies for termination of 4 lease, il the lease term
reflects the Group exercising the oplion to terminate the lease. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on &n index or a rate arg recognised as an expense in
the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment ocours

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses ils incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencemant date because the interest rate implicit in
the leasa s not readily delesminable. ARer the commencameant date, the amount of
lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease
payments mada. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasurad if
there is a modification. a change in the lease term, a change in lease paymenls (e.g.,
a change to future lease payments resulling from a change in an index or rate) or a
change In assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
215  Leases (continued)

Group as & lesses (continued)

(e} Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the shori-term lease recognition exemption o its sharl-term leases
of machinery and equipment (thal is those leases thal have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). When
the Group eniers inte a bease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides
whether to capitalise the lease on a leasa-by-lease basis.

Leasa payments an short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the leass term.

216  Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is detemmined on
firgt-in, first-out bass and, in the case of werk in progress and finished goods, cOMprses
direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate propertion of overheads, Net realisable
value & based on astimated seling pnces less any estimated costs to ba incurred (o
completion and disposal,

Whers necessary, allowance ks provided for damaged, obsolete and stow moving items to
adjusl the carmying value of inventorias o the lower of cost and nel realisable value.

217 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and short term
highdy liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounits of cash, are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a shodt maturity of generally within three
manths whan acquired, less bank overdrafis which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group's cash management.

2,18  Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation {legal or constructive)
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an cutfiow of economic resources will be
required to selthe the obligation and the amount of the cbligation can be estimated resiably.

Provisions ara reviewed at the end of @ach reporting penod and adjusted to reflect the curment
best estimate, IF it 5 no longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will ba
requirgd to settle the obligation, the provision s reversed. If the effect of the time value of
money is material, provisions are discounied using a currant pre 1ax rate that reflects, where
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. YWhen discounting is used, the increase In the
pravision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost,
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
218  Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are capitalised as par of the cost of a qualifying asset if they are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of that asset Capitalisation of
borrowing costs commences whan the activities to prepare the asset for its intended use or
sale are in progress and the expendilures and bormowing costs ang incurred. Bormowing cosis
ara capitafised until the assets are substantially completed for their ntended use or sale. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur. Borrowing costs consist of
inerest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

2.20 Government grants

Govemmant grants are recognisad at their fair value where there is reasonable assurancs
that the grant will be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. The grant is
recognised in profit or koss on a syslematic basis over the periods in which the entity
recognises as expensas the related costs for which the grants are intended to comipensate.
Grants related fo incoma may be presented as a credit in profit or loss, either separately or
under heading such as “Other income”. Alternatively, they are deducted in reporting the
redated axponses,

221  Revenue
Revenu from conlract with cusiomers

Revenue from contracls wilth customers is recognised when the Group satisfies a
performance obligation by transferming & promised good or service (o customer, which Is
when the custormer obtains control of the good or service. A pedormance obligation may be
satisfied at a point in time or owver time. The amount of revenue recognised is the amount
allocated to the satishoed performancs obligation.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable ameunt, the amount of consideration
is estimated to which the Group will be enfitted in exchange for transferring the goods or
senices (o the customer. The vanable consideraticn s estimated at contract inception and
constrained until it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recogmised will nol occur when Lhe associaled uncertainty with the
vanable consideration is subsequently resolved,

{8) Menagement services - Management fee income

Revenue from the provision of management services is recognised over the scheduled
pericd on a stragght-line basis because the customer simultaneously recenes and
consumeas the benefits provided by the Group.

(b)  Management services - Advisory fee income

Revenue from the provision of advisory senvices is recognised either (i) point in time
when control of the promised service s transferred to the customer, generally on
delivery of the advisory reports; or (i) over time, using input method, based on direct
measurements of the value of the services transferred to the cusiomer lo date, relalve
to tha remaining servicas promised under the contract, depending if the confract has
redesvant terms that entitle the Group with enforceable right to payment for perlormance
completed 10 date.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
221 Revenue {continued)
Revenue from cantract with customers (confinued)
(g} Personal care income
Reverue from the sale of personal care products is recognised at a point in time wihen
control of the assel is transferred to the customer, generally upon delivery of the
personal cane products.

(d)  Pet care service incoma

Revemie from pel cane service is recognisad at the point in time when the promised
service |s transfermed o the customer.

() Strategic investment income
(i) Food and beverage income

Revenue from restaurani cperation is recognised at the point in ime when
contred of the goods and services ane transfarred to the customes, baing at tha
peint the customer purchases the goods or when the food catering senvices are
completed at the restaurants.

Revenua from sales of food products is recognised at the point in time when
control of the assel is transterred to the customer, generally upon delivery of the
food products.

fi) Education sarvice incomea

Revenue from education service s recognised over time by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant perficrmanca obligations,
as the customer simultaneously recelves and consumes the benelits provided
by the Group.

iy Commission on sales of columbariums
Revenue from commission on sales of columbariums is determined as a
percentage based on the value of transaction amount. Revenue refated 1o such

commissions is recognised upon a lime when the Group safisfies ils
performance obligations by rendering services.

(f)  Ohiher income = interest income:
Interest income is recognised on an accreal basis using the effective interest method
by apgplying the rate that exaclly discounts the eslimaled fulure cash receipis over the

expecled life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriale, 1o the
net carrying amount of the financial asset.

e I
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
221  Revenue (continued)
(@) Strategic investment income
(i)  Food and beverage incomea

Revenue from restaurani operation is recognised at the point in time when
contrel of the goods and services are ransferred to the cusiomes, being at the
point the customer purchases the goods or when the food catering services are
completed at the restauranis.

Revenue from sales of food products = recognised at the point in tme when
cantred of tha asset is transferred 1o the customer, generally upon defivery of tha
focd products.

(i) Education service income

Revenue from education service s recognised over time by reference to the
progross lowards complote sabisfaction of the relavant perfermance obligations,
as the customar simultansously receives and consumes the benefils provided
by the Group.

(i} Commission on sales of columbariums

Revenue from commission on sales of columbariums is determined as a
percentage based on the valuz of transaction amounl. Revenue related to such
COMMISSions s recognised upon a time when the Group safisfies ils
performance abligations by rendering senvices.

(h)  Oiher income - interast income:

Inferest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective imerast mathod
bvy applying the rate that exacily discounts the astimaled fulure cash receipls over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, o the
nel eanrying amount of the Gnancial assel.

2.22 Contract assets and liabilities
Contract assels

A contract asset is the night (o consideration in exchange for goods or senvices transferred
ta the eustorner. 1f the Group perfarms by transferring goods or services 1o a customer before
the: customer pays consideration or before payment is due, a confract asset is recognised for
the eamed consideration that is conditional. Contracl asseis are subject o impairment
assessment, details of which are included in the accounting policies for impalment of
financial assets.

Contract habilifies

A contract libility s recognised when a payment is recaived or 8 paymani is due (whichaver
is earier) from a customer before the Group transfers the related goods or senvices. Contract
liabifiies are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the comtract (e,
transfers control of the related goods or sendices (o the customer),
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuad)

2,23 Employes benafils
(a) Defined contribulion plans
Pension scheme = Singapone

Paymenis made Lo siate-managed retirement benefit schemes, such as (he Singapore
Central Provident Fund, are deall with as payments (o defined conbribution plans and
are charged as an expenses as they fall due,

Pension scheme = Japan

Employees in Japan are required (o be covered under the Nalional Pension System in
accordance with the Japan law. Contributions to the pension funds by the Group are
calculated as a perceniage of employees’ basic salaries. The retiremant benefit plan
cost charged to profit or loss represents contributions payable by the Group to the
pensian funads,

Pension scheme = Hong Kong

The Group operates a defined confribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement
benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”} under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all of s employees. Contribulions are made based on a percentage of
the employees’ basic salaries and are changed 1o profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The
Group's employer contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the:
MPF Scheme

(b))  Defined benafit plans - Indonasia

The Group providas provisions for employee service enfitternants in order to meet the
minimum benefits required (o ba paid to qualified employeas, as required under the
Indonesia Labour Law No 13/2003, The said provisions, which are unfunded, are
estimated using the projected unil credit acluarial valuation method,

Remeasuraments anising from the defined benefit iabdity comprising of actuarial gains
ard losses, ara recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of financial
position with a corresponding debit or credit to retained profits through other
comprehensive income in the pericd in which they occur, Remaasuraments are not
reciassified o profit or loss in subsequent periods.

Past sarace costs are recognised in profit or loss at the earier of;
- 1he date of the plan amendment or curtalment; and
- 1he date that the Group recognises restructuring-ralated costs.

Met interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit
liahility, The Group recognises the following changes in the net defined benefit
liabiliies under “Administralive expansas” in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss:

- sarvice costs comprising currenl service cosis, past-service costs, gains amd
losses on curailments and non-routing setlements; and
L nel intarast expense or income.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.23  Employee benefils (continued)
2.24  Share-based paymenis

Tha Company operates share option schemas for the purpose of providing incantives and
rewards 10 eligible participants who contribute 1o the success of the Group's operations.
Employees (including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-
based paymenis, whereby employees render services as consderation for  equity
instruments ("equity-setiled transactions™).

The cost of equity-settied fransactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair
value al the date at which they are grantad. The fair value |5 determined by an extemal valuer
using A binomial model, further details of which afe given in Nole 32 to the financial
slatements.

2.24  Share-based payments fcontinued)

The cost of equity-setted transactions is recognised in employee benefit expense, iogether
with a comesponding increase in equity, over the period in which the pedormance andfor
service conditions are fulfiled, The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settied
transactions at the and of each reporting period wntil the vesting date reflacts the extent (o
which the vesiing pencd has expired and the Group's best estimate of the number of equity
instrurmants that will ultimately vast. The charge or cradit 1o the statement of profid or loss for
a period represents the movemeant in the cumulative expense recognised as al the beginning
and end of thal period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken inte account when
determining the grant date fair value of swards, but the likelihood of the conditicns being met
is assessed as part of the Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that wil
ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within tha grant date fair value.
Any other conditions attached to an award, but without an associated service reguirement,
are considerad 1o be non-vesting condiions, Mon-vesting conditions are reflecied in the fair
value of an award and tead to an immediate expensing of an award wnless here are aiso
service andior performance conditions.

For awards that do not ulimately vesl because non-markel perormancs andior senvice
conditions have not been mel, no expense is recognised. Where awards include a markel
or nan-vesting condition, the iransactions are treated as vesting irespective of whether the
market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance andfor
service conditions are safisfied,

Whare the terms of an equily-sattled award are modified, a8 a minimum an expense |5
recognised as if ihe terms had not been modified, if the onginal terms of the award are met.
In addition, an expensa is recognised for any modification that increases the lotal fair valwe
of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial 1o the employvee as measured at the
dale of modification.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGHIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
2.24  Share-based payments (continued)

Whera an aquity-settled award s cancalled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of
cancellation, and any expense nod yel recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
Thiz includes any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of either the Group
or the employes arg nolmel. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are ireated as if they were a modification of the original award, as described in
the previcus paragraph.

Tha diutive effect of ocutstanding oplions is reflected as addibonal share dilution in the
computation of eamings per share.

2.25 Taxoes

Income tax compnses curment and deferred tax. Income Lax relaling o lems recogmised
outside profit or loss is recognised oulside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity.

(@) Cumreni income fax

Cumrent tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered
from or paid 1o i taxation authorities, based on tax ralas (and tax Ews) that have
been enacted or substantively enacied by the end of the reporting period, taking Into
consideration inlerpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in which the
Group operales.

(b)) Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the
end of the reporting period between the tax bases of assets and llabdites and their
camying amounis for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilties are recognised for all taxablde temporary differences, except:

L whan the defarred tax liability arises from the mitial recognition of goodwill or an
assel or ability in & ransaction that is not a business combination and, at the
tima af the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and

. in respect of taxable femporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, assoclates and joint ventures, when the timing of the reversal of

{he tamporary differences can be controllad and it is probable that the temporary
difierences will not reversa in the foreseeable fulure,
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
225 Tawes (continued)
(b} Deferrad tax (continued)

Deferrad tax assets are recognised for all deductible femporary differences, and the
camyforward of unused tax credits and any unused tax losses. Defered lax assels
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforeard of unused
tax credits and unused tax losses can be ulilised, except:

. when the deferred tax assel relating to the deductible temporary differences
anses from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is nof
a business combination and, at the time of the ransacton, affects neithar the
accounting profit nor taxabla profit or loss; and

* in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, defered fax assels are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foresseable fulure and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be uilised.

The carrying amount of defarred lax assets s reviewad at the end of each reporting
period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assel 1o be ublised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assels are reassessed 8t the end of each reporling period
and are recognised 1o the extanl that it has become probable that sulficient taxable
profit will be available 1o allow all or part of the deferred lax asset to be recovered,

Deferred tax assets and habilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to
apply o the penod when the assel is realised or the liability s seltled, based on lax
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax assels and deferred tax labiktes are offset if and only if the Group has a
legally enforceable righl to set off current tax assets and current tax liabifities and tha
defered tax assels and deferred tax llabdities relate 1o income taxes levied by the
same faxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current lax iabilities and assets on a net basis, of to realise
the assels and satte the liabilities simultaneously, in @ach fulure penod in which
significant amounts of deferred 1ax liabiliies or assels are expected (o be setted or
recovered.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
225 Tawes (continued)
{c) Sales tax
Expenses and assets are recognisad net of the amount of sales tax except:
* When the sales lax incurred on a purchase of assels of services is nol
recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the sales tax is recognised
as part of the cost of acquisdion of the asset or as part of the expense item as

applicable; and

. When recaivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales fax
inchuded,

The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, ar payable to, the taxaton autharibes
arg included as part of receivables or payables in ihe statement of financial position.

2.26  Share capital and share issuance expenses
Proceeds from msuance of ordinary shares are recognised as share capital in equity.
Incremenial costs directly atinbutable to the issuance of ordinary shares are deducied
against share capital
2.27  Contingencies
A contingent liabaity Is:
{a) a possible obkgalion thal arises from pasl evenis and whose exislence will be
canfirmed only by the occurrence or non-occumence of one or more uncertain future
events not whally within the control of the Group: o
(b) a present obligation thal arises from past events but is not recognised becausa:

(i) Nis not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economec benefits will
be required to setila the abligation: or

(il The amouwnt of the obligation canno! be measured with sufficient rellabisity.
A contingent assat is a possible assel thal arises from pasl events and whose existence will
be confirmed only by the ccourrence or non-occurmence of one or more unceriain future
evenis not wholly within the confrel of the Group.
Contingent liabilities and assets are nol recognised on the statement of financial position of

the Group, excepl for contingant liabdlities assumed in a business combination that are
present obligations and which the fair values can be reliably determinad.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
228  Segment reporting

An operating segment ks a componant of the Group that engages in business activities from
which it may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expensas that relate
to transactions with any of the Group's other comiponents. All operating segments’ oparating
resulls ane reviewed regularly by the Group's CEO (the chiel operating decision maker) and
senior managemen! fo make dacisions about resources (o ba allocated to the segment and
to assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.

Segment results that are reportad to the Group’s CED and senior management include items
directly atfributable 10 a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable
basis. Unaliocated items compdise mainly corporate assets (primarily the Company's
headquarters), head office expanses, and tax assats and liabilities,

Segment capital expenditure is the tolal cost incurmed during the year fo acquire propearty,
planl and equipment, and intangible assets other than goodwill.

a SIGHIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENT

The preparation of the Group's consclidated financial slatemants raquires managemant (o
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assels and labilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disciosure of
contingent liabilities. Unceralnty about these assumplions and estimates could result in
outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the canrying amounts of the assels or
liabiliies affected in the future.

31 Judgements made [n applying accounting policles

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the
folicwing judgemant, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consobidated financial statements:

Deferred fax assels

Defered tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses 1o the exlent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be avaiable against which the losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required fo determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits logether with
future tax planning strategies. The amouni of unrecognised tax losses at 31 December 2022
was approximately LS%2 911,000 (2021: approximately WS$3, 707,000). Further detais are
contained in Male 28 to the finandal statemeants.
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a SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENT [continued)
3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concaming the future and other key sources of estimation uncartainty
at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabiliies within the next financial year, are described
belonw.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This
requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-genarsting units to which the goodwill
is alliocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an estmale of the
expected fulure cash Aows from the cash-generating unids and also 1o choose a suitahble
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash fiows. The camying amount
of goodwill at 31 December 2022 was approximately US3$35.672,000 (2021; approxamately
$13.687,000). Further detais are given in Note 13 to the financial stalements.

Revenue recognifion from advisory senvice

Revanue from advisory senice is recognised based on the stage of completion of the
conlraci, using input methed which requires estimations made by managemenl
Management estimates the expected ioial costs 10 complete the relevant performance
obligations based on the budgets prepared for the contracts. Because of the nature of the
activilles, management reviews and revises the estimates of such expecied cosis in the
budget prepared for each contract as the conlrac! progresses. Any revisions to eslimales of
the expected costs would affect contract revenue recognition.

Impaiment of property, plant and egquipment and nght-of-use assets

The Growup assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for property, plant and
equipment and right-ol-use assets at the end of each reponing penod. An impalrment exisis
when the camying valwe of an asset or a cash-generating unit ("CGU") exceeds ils
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less cosis of disposal and is valee
inuse. Management has used the value-in-use mathod 10 assess recoverable amounts of
the CGU. When value in use caltulations are undertaken, management musl estimate he
expecied fulure cash flows from the asset or cash-generaling wnit and choose a suilable
diseount rate in order 1o calculate the present value of thosa cash flows. The carrying amount
of property, plant and equipment and nght-cf-use assets &t 31 December 2022 was
approximately USS6.157,000 (2021 approximately US$826,000) and approxsmalely
US5E,0083,000 (2021: approximately USE4,019,000) respectvely. Furher details are given
in Mote 12 to the financial statements.
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a SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENT [continued)
3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Prowvision far expected credit losses on rade receivables

Tha Group wuses 8 provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade and other receivables, The
provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of varous customer segments that
have similar loss patierns {i.2., by cusiomer type and rating).

Tha provision matnx is initally based on the Group's hestoncal observed default rates. The
Group will calibrate the malrix lo adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-
looking information.  For instance, if forecast economic conditions (ie., gross domestic
products) are expected 1o detenorate over the next year which can lead 1o an increased
numbear of dafaults, the historcal default rales are adjusied. At each repoding date, the
historical cbsernsed default rales are updated and changes In the forward-looking estimates
are analysed,

The assessment of the comelation among historical observed defaull rates, forecast
economic conditions and ECLS is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLS is sensitive to
changas in creumstances and forecasl aconomic condibons. The Group's msloncal credit
loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of
customar's aclual default in the fulure. The information aboul the ECLS on the Group's trada
receivables is disclosed in Note 20 to the financial statements,

Fair value of identiffable asssis and labiltes acquired through business combinalions

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations, which
requires the Group to record assets acquired and liabilifies assumed at their fair values on
the date of acquisition. Significant judgment is usad to estimate the fair values of the assels

and labilities acquired, including estimating future cash flows from the acquired businoss,
determining appropriate discount rates, assat Hves and ather assumplions.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised info business unils based on their
products and senvices and has four reporiable oparating segments as follows:

(a) management service segment which engaged in the provision of management and
advisory senvices;

(b) personal care segment which engaged in the development, production and sales of
maierial and organic products;

{c}) pet care segment which engaged in the operation of veterinary hospital and pet care
business; and

{d) strategic investments segment principally comprses of operations in food and
beverage Industry and includes cither education senices and columbarium services
which contribute less than 10% of the group’s total confribution,

Management monitors the results of the Group's cperating segments separately for the
purpose of making dedsions about resource allocation and perlormance assessment
Segment performance is evalualed based on reportable segment profilioss, which & a
measure of adjusted profitioss before fax, The adjusted operating profit 5 measured
congistantly with the Group's operating profit excepd that finance income, finance costs, shara
of profits and losses of a pint venture and associales and corporale and unallocated
expenses are excluded from such measurament

Segment assets exclude investments in a joint venlure and associales and corporate and
unallocated assets as these assels are managed on a group basis.

Segment Nabiles exclude corporate and unallocated lsbilities as these labilities are
managed on a group basis.

intersegment sales and transfers are ransacted with reference o the seliing prices used for
sales made (o third parties at the then prevailing markeat prices.

2022
Management Personal Strategic
sErvice care Petcare  investmants Tetal
USE000 USS'000 USE'000 USS 000 UsS'000
Segment revenue
Revenue from extemal
CUBIOMETs 37,115 24027 10,847 13,470 B5 550
Intersegment revenue 1,445 85 - 308 1,908
38,580 24,092 10,947 13,866 a7 465
If
EEminabon of inbersegment
revenue (1,806G)
Tolal revenue B5 559
-5 -
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
2022 (continued)

Management Personal Stralegic
SOrVice care Pet care  investments Taotal
Uss'o00 US5000 US5000 Uss'000 uss'a00

Segment results before

non-gash ilems 11,442 2,018 1393 1,680 16 482
Nor-cash ifems
Provisson for expected credi

losses - - 19) - (2}
Write-ofl of inveniones - {586) - - {56)
Write-off of property, plant

and equipment - - - (2) (2}
Depracation 11.461) {67} {931) {1,783) (4,248)
Amaorteation (212) {13) (60} (4a3) [33%)

Loss on disposal of

propedty, planl amnd

equpment - - - {E7) {67)
Fair value gain on an equity

Invesiments at fav value

through profit or less - - - 4,871 4,871
Gain on fermination of
Inases 2 - - - 3

Gain on disposal and
deregistration of a

subsidary 15 - 50 - Td
Prowvision for loss on
bgudation of a subsidiary {424) - - - {424}

Gasn on rmeaserement of
Invesiment in associate 1o
fair value upon busness
combination achieved in

stages - - - 455 455
Dafined benall axpenses 5 - - a8 5
Share option expenses {198) - - - (198)
Segment results 9,169 1.881 390 5,110 16,550
Corporale and unalleeabed

GRpAnSHS (3,922)
Crperating profit 12,628
Finance incoma 7
Finance costs (284)

Shain of profits and kases
of a joint venture and
associates {34)

Profit befors tax 12,337
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
2022 (continued)

Management Personal Strategic
SEIVice care Potcare  investments Total
USS'000 LSS'000 Uss'000 Uss'00a LSS 000

Segment assets 48,445 7.088 28,906 24 283 109,625
Hoconcitaton,
EEminabton of intersegment

asaels {380}
Inverstment in a jaint venture 28
Corporate and unaliceated

asaels B8.202
Total assets 117,465
Segment Habilities 18,722 6,157 17.021 9,625 52525

Secanciigiion,
EEminabon of intersegrment

Eatliles (380}
Corporate and unallocated

kapiities 1413
Tetal liabilities 23,548
Cther segmant

information
Capital expenddurs * 282 3,042 4,527 2420 10.271

2 Capital expenditure consists of adddions of property, planl and equipment and other intangible
assels including assets from the acquisition of subsidiaries.

2021
Management Personal Strategic
service care Pet care  investmenis Tatal
LSS 000 LSS 000 US5'000 US5000 LISS 000
Segment revenue
Revenwe from extemal
cusiomers 37.844 18,744 6,136 10,380 73,113
Intersagment revenus 1,673 61 - 438 2172
38.517 18,805 6,136 10827 75.285
Hacancilaion,
EEminabion of intersegrment
PEVELIG (2172}
Total revenue 73,113
- 83 -
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION {continued)
2021 (continued)

Management Personal Strategic
SEIVice care Potcare  investments Total
USS'000 LSS'000 Uss'000 Uss'00a LSS 000

Segment results before

non-gash items 13.512 1,214 628 1.888 17,254
Non-cash ifeims
Provision for expected credd

losses (4] - {1} - (5}
Impaimment of property,

plani and equipment = - - {52) {52)
Impasrment of right-of-use

assels - - - (236) (236)
Wite-off of invertories += (44 - - i)
Write-off of property, plant

and equipment (5) - - (1) ()
Writi-olf al ather intangible

assols = = = (3) i3)
Deprecalion (2,100) (85) (363) (1.783) 4.318)
Amaortsation {187} {28} (52} (7 (282)

Loss on disposal of

propedty, plant and

equipment {1} - - - {1}
Fair value koss on an equity

vesiment al fair value

through predit or kess - - - {107) (107)
Gasn on lermination of
IR EAE 13 - 59 T2

Lass on disposal of
subsidiaries and

businesses - - - (18) {18}
Dafined benafit expanses (18) - - = 116)
Shane opbion expenses (123) - - - (123)
Segment resulis 11.089 1,078 207 {2559) 12,115
Corporate and unaliocated

expenses {4.249)
Operating profit 7.BEE
Finance income 3
Finance costs [368)
Shae of profils and kesses

of associates 51
Profit before tax T.552
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION {continued)
2021 (continued)

Management Personal Strategic
SEIVice care Potcare  investments
USS'000 LSS'000 Uss'000 Uss'00a

Segment assels 28,218 5631 6,510 15,587

Hoconcitaton,

EEminabton of intersegment
assels

Inversbments in associales

Corporate and unaliceated
asasls

Tetal assets

Segment Habilities 15,953 4,857 4,980 5515

Secanciigiion,

EEminabon of intersegrment
Eabdilies

Corporate and unallocated
fadities

Total liabilities

Cther segmant
information

Capital expenddura * T0 3 T2 568

Total
USS000

55,926

(234)
304

Z7.B53

23842

31,305

(234)

1.971

33042

711

2 Capital expendilure consists of adddions of property, planl and equipment and other intangible

assels including assets from the acquisibon of subsidiaries.

- 85 -
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION {continuad)

Geographical information

(a) Revermie fram axtemnal customers

Japan

Grealer China
Soulheasl Asia
Morth America
Europe

Middle easl
India

2022 2024
US$'000 USS000
57814 46,668
9412 10,200
13,837 12,479
1,752 1,237
724 413
864 1,852
1,156 174
85,550 73,113

The revanue information above is based on the locations of the legal entities which

eamad the ravenue.

B)  Men-current assels

Japan

Greater China
Soulheas!t Asia
India

2022 2021
US5'000 Us5'000
26,480 2,020
1.957 1,225
10,091 10,294
15.644 -
54,182 20,538

The non-current asset information above is based on the locafions of assels and
excludes financial assets, prepayment and defermed tax assats,

Information about a major customer

Curing the year 31 December 2022, no revenue from ransaclons with a single external
customer amouwnted to 10% or mare of the Group's tolal revenua (2021; Nil).

- 58 -
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Mobes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Revenue from contracts with customers
(a) Disaggregated revenue nformation

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Management  Personal Strategic
service care Pet care  investments Total
US§'000 US5'000 USS000 Uss000 Uss'000
Segments
Types of goods or
services
Managemen! servces 21,853 - - - 21,853
Advisory seraces 15,162 - - - 15,162
Pearsonal care - 24,027 - - 24,027
Pet cars - - 10,047 - 10,047
Slrategec invesimen
imcome - - - 13470 13,470
37116 24027 10,947 13470 BE,559
Geographical
markets
Japan 17,802 23,808 10,8947 5,058 57,814
Greater China 4 884 - - 4,528 9,412
Southeas! Asia #8833 14 - 3,883 13,837
Norih Amanca 1.752 - - - 1,752
Europa T4 - - - T2
Middle east BG4 - - - HEd
India 1,156 - - - 1,156
ara1s 24027 10,8947 13,470 B5,559
Timing of revenue
recagnition
Services fransferred
ovaer time arnis - - - Irais
Goods and services
transferred at a paint
n lime - 24,027 10,947 13.470 48,444
75 24,027 10,947 13470 85,550
- 57 -
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Mobes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

5 REVEMUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(a] Disaggregated révenue information (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Management  Personal Strategic
service care Pet care  investments Total
UsS$'000 US5'000 US5000 Uss'000 Uss'000
Seaments
Types of goods or
services
Managemant seraces 21,546 = = = 22,548
Advisary sarvices 15,208 - = = 15,208
Personal care - 18,744 - - 18,744
Peal care - - 6,136 - 6,136
Strategec invesiment
income - - - 10,348 10,389
37844 18,744 5,138 10,389 73113
Geographical
markets
Japan 19,680 18,627 6,138 2,225 A6, 668
Greater China B 006 = = 4283 10,289
Soulheas! Asia E.481 17 - 3881 12,479
Horth Amaica 1,238 - - - 1.238
Eurcpe 413 - - - 413
Middle east 1,852 - - - 1,852
India 174 - - - 174
a7 Bad 18744 B.138 10,388 3,113
Timing of revenue
recagnition
Services iranslerred
over time a7, Ba4 - - - aT.044
Goods and services
transferred at a paint
n ime - 16,744 6,138 10,388 35,209
a7 Bad 18,744 6,138 10,389 73113
- 5§ -
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Mobes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

5 REVEMUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(a] Disaggregated révenue information (continued)

The following tablka shows the amounts of revenue recognised in the current reporting
pericd that was included in contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period
and recognised from performance obligations safisfied in previous periods:

2022 2021
USE'000 LS5'000

Revenue recognised that was incleded in contract
liabiibes at the baginning of the reparting penocd’
Advisory fee income 238 g

(b)) Perormance obligations
Information about the Group's performance obligatons s summarnsed below:
FManagemen! services- Managemen fee income
The performance cbligation is satisfied over time as services are rendered and shor-
term advances are normally reguired before rendering the services. Management
service contracts are for periods of one year or less, or are billed based on the time
incurmaed.
Managament senices- Advisory feg income
The performance obfigation is satisfied either (i) upen celivery of the advisory reports
and payment is generally dua within 30 days from delivery; or (i) overime as servicas
are renderad and payment is generally due within 30 days from the date of billing.
Sale of personal care products

The perfermance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the personal care producis
and payment is generally due within 30 days from delivery,

Pel carg senice incame

The performance obligation s generally satisfied al a point in time upon completion of
the sarvices and payment is generally due when the services have been rendered.

- 59 -
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Mobes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

5 REVEMUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

{b)  Performanca obligations (corinued)
Strategic investment income
iy  Food and beverage

The performance obligation is satisfied when the catering services have been
provided to customers. The Group's trading lerms with its customers are mainly
on cash and credit card setflement. The credit period s generally less than one
maith.

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the food products and
payment is generally due within 30 days from delivery,

(i) Educafion service income
The peformance obligabon is genorally satishied over Gme a8 senices are
provided and payment is generally due when the services have been rendered,
(i} Oiher strategic investment sales- Commission on sales of cofumbarnms

The perormance cbligation |s satisfied when the columbarium services have
been provided (0 customers.

Transaction price alfocated fo remaining perfarmance obligation

The aggregate amount of transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied (or partially
unsatisfied) performance obligations as st 31 December 2022 is approximataly
US51,1:26,000 (2021: approximately US$842 000). This amount has not included the
fodowing:

Performance obligations for which the Growp has applied practical expediant not to
disclose mformation aboul is remaining obligations if:

- The performance obligation is part of a contract that has an ariginal expacted
duration for one year or less, ar

- The Group recegnizes revenue in the amoun! to which the Group has a right to
invoice customers in amounts that correspond directly withi the value o the
customer of the Group's performance completed to date.

The Group expects o recognise approximately USSBS0,000 (2021: approximately
US51,620,000) as revenue relating 1o the transaction price allacated to the unsatisfied
{or partially unsalisfied) performance cblgations as atl 31 December 2022 in the
financzal year 2023,
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)

Oither income and gains

Fair value gainiloss) on equity investments at fair valueg

through profil on loss

Gain on remeasurement of investimant in associale 1o fair
value upen business combination achieved in stages

{Note 17)

Gainf{Less) on disposal and deregistration of subsidianes

{Mote 34)
Government grants #
Othears

2022 2021
US5000 LIS5000

4,871 {107)
455 i
74 {18}
214 2M
1 5
5615 151

# The amount mainly included subsidies granied by cerain govermnments from jurisdictions
where the Group operales, to provide finrancial suppoet during the Covid-18 pandemic.
There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating 1o these grants.

- &1 -
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Mobes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

6. PROFIT BEEFORE TAX

The Group's profit before tax is amived al afier charging/{crediting:

2022 2021

USE000 Uss000

Cost of inventonies sold 12,699 8,858
Cost of services provided 6,756 6,194

Employee benefit axpenses (inchuding direcions’
remuneration (Mole 8)).

Wages and salaries 26827 22,841
Pension scheme contributions 2,285 247
Dedined benefit expense (Nole 20) (5) 16
Equity-5ettled share option expenses (Nole 32) 188 123
29,305 25,397
Depreciation;
Property, plant and equipment (Mote 12) 1,023 B85
Right-of-use assets (Note 12) 3,225 3832
4,248 4,318
Auditor's rermuneration 1.018 1,452
Expenses relating to shor-lerm leases 1,044 715
Forebgn exchange differences, nat 142 161
Loss on disposal property, plant and equipment &7 1
Gain on lermination of leases 2 (73)
Provision for loss on liquidation of a subsidiany** 424 =
Impairment of property, plant and equipment (Note 12) - 52
Impairment of right-of-use assets (Note 12) - 236
Wite-off of inventories 56 44
Writa-off of property, plan and equipment (Note 12) 2 &
Write-off of other infangible asseis (Mote 14) - 3
Amaortisation of other intangible assets (Note 14) 335 281
Provision for expecled credit losses (Note 20) 9 5
(GainMoss on disposal of and deregistration subsidiaries
and businesses
(Mote 34) (Td) 18

* Employie benef expenses included in "Cost of sales” and "Administrathve expenses” in 1he
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income amounted o
approcimately US55 763,000 (2021 approwmately USS5423000) and approximabedy
UIS523 542,000 (2021 approvimately USS19 974 000), respactively.

oel During e year, a wholly ewned subsidiary of the Group i in the rmdst of kquidation, as a result,
a provision for loss on bpedation of appreximately LISS424 000 was recognised (2021 Nil)

- B2 -

228/306



EDINETOOOO

ODOo00oDOo0oDoooooo0boogOooo(esr220)
oOoOooodn

YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Mobes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

7. FINANCE INCOME

2022 2021
USH 000 US5000
Bank interest income 27 3
B. FINANCE COSTS
2022 2021
US5'000 US5000
Interest on interesi-bearing bank and other bommowings 184 250
Intarest on lease labilities (Note 27) 100 104
Others - 5
284 368

8. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

2022 2021
US5'000 LUIS5000
Fees 128 108
Other emoluments:
Salaries, allowances and banefits in kind B48 T26
Equity-settied share oplion expenses 1 1
aFr 835

10. INCOME TAX

2022 2021

US$'000 US5000

Staterment of profit or loss and other comprehansive
IGOTTE.

Current income tax
- Charge for the year 2,396 2,542
DPefered tax
- Ovigination and reversal of lemporary difierences (458) k]
Total tax charge for the year 1,838 2,581

- B3 -
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Mobes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

10 INCOME TAX {continued)
Relationship between tax expense and accounting profit
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicabla to prafit before tax at the statutory rates for the

countrigs in which the Group and the majosity of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax
expense at the effective tax rate is as follows:

2022 2021
Us$'000 US$"000
Profit befors tax 12,337 7,552
Tax at the stattory lax rate 2.097 1,284
Eftect of tax rates in foreign junsdictions 1,026 1,237
Tax effects of;
Income not subject 1o tax {1.060) (73)
Expenses nol deductible for tax 58 2M
Profits and losses atiributable to a joint venture and
associales & 19)
Tax losses ulilisad from previous pericds {144) {T2)
Deferrad tax recognisad in respect of previous periods (204) {204)
Tax losses not recognised 158 156
Effect of withhalding tax 39 2
Others i38) i1}
Tax expense at the Group's effective rate 1.838 2 581

The above reconcilinfion |s prepared by aggregating separate reconciliations for each
national jurisdiction,

For the financial year ended 31 December 2022, there is no share of tax atiributable to

associates included in “Share of profit'{loss) of a joint venture and associates” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and cther comprehensive income (2021: Nil).
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Mobes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

1.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic eamings per share amounts is based on the profit atiribuiable to
owners of the parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue dunng
the year, In défermining the weighled avarage number of ardinary shares in issue for the
year ended 31 December 2021, assumplion was made that the Reorganisation Exercise as
further detailed in Mote 30 had completed on 1 January 2020,

Group
2022 202
US5'000 USS 000
Earnings
Profit altributable to owners of the parent, used in the basic
and diluted eamings per share calculation 10,391 4,851
Mumber of shares
2022 2021
Kumber of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
purposes of basic eamings per share 20,089,787 15,944,502
uss uss
Eamings per share (n cenls)
- Basic and diluted 51.72 31.05

For the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no adjustment was made 1o the basic
earnings per share amount a5 the potential dilutive effect of the share oplion are not incuded
in the calculation of diluted eamings per share until cartain conditions delailed in Note 32 to
the: financial statements are met.

- 65§ -
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Mobes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial years ended 31 December 2022

12, PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

Impairment of asseis

Property, plant and equipmeant and righi-of-use assets are tesied for impairment when there
are indicators that the camying amcunts may not be recoverabie. In particular, management
assesses impaiment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assels of certain
restaurant operations which continued to underperform for the financial year ended 31
Decamber 2022 and 31 December 2021.

The recoverabla amounts of the property, plant and equipment and rght-of-use assels
redating 1o certain restaurant operations with indicators of impairment were determined based
on their value in use ["VIU") over the remaining lease term. During the year ended 31
Decamber 2022, the pre-tax discount rate used was 9% (2021 0%).

During the year ended 31 December 2021, an impalrment loss of approximately US852 000

for property, plant and equipment and approximately US5238,000 for right-of-use assels was
recognised in the profit or loss.

13. GOODWILL

Group
2022 2021
US$'000 USF000
Al 1 January:

Cost 13,687 11,759
Accurmislated impairmant - -
Met carrying amount 13,687 11,758
Cost at 1 January, not of accumulated impairmeant 13,687 14,758
Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses (Note 33) 22,683 2,556
Exchange realignment (688) (&28)
Wet carrying amount at 31 Decembar 35,672 13,667

Al 31 December;
Cost 35672 13,687
Accumulated Impalrment - -
et carrying amount 35,672 13.687

- 72 -
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13.

GOODWILL {continuead)

Iy

irment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocaled to the fallowing cash-
generating units ("CGU") for impaimment testing:

Food and beverage

Pel care service,
Management service: and
Columbarium service

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each of the cash-genarating units is as follaws:

Food and Pet care Management Columbarium

beverage SErViCe service Service Total
USS'000 US$'000 ISS'000 USS000 USS'000
Al 31 Decamber
2022 2370 11,082 20816 1,404 35672
Al 31 December
2021 111 3,404 8552 1,820 13.687
iy Food and beverage

(i)

The recoverable amount of the food and beverage CGLU has been determined based
on a value in use calculaticn using cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering a five-year pariod (2021: five-year period), The pre-tax discount rate applied
to the cash flow projections is 12% (2021 12%). Anticipated revenue growth rates
over the five-year penad for the CGU ranges from 1% io 12% (2021: Nil}, The terminal
growdh rate used o extrapolate the cash flows of the unit beyond the fiva-year period
i5 1% (2021: Nil).

Pet care service cash-generaling unit

The recoverable amount of the pet care service cash-generaling unit has been
determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on
financial budgets covering a five-year period (2021: five-year period), The pre-tax
discount rate applied to the cash flow projechons is 12% 10 13% (2021: 12% 10 15%).
Anticipated revenue growth rates aver the five-year peried for the CGU ranges from
2% o 12% (2021: 0% 1o 5%). The terminal growth rate used 1o extrapotate the cash
fiows of the unit bayond the five-year pariod is 4% (2021: 1%).

=73 -
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13. GOODWILL (continued)

(i} Management service cash-genarating wnit

The recoverable amount of the management service cash-generating unil has been
determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projectons based on
financial budgets covering a five-year pariod (2021; three o five-year period, The pre-
tax disccunt rate applied to the cash flow projections is ranging from 13% 1o 24%
{2021: 15% to 18%). Anticipated revenua growth rates over the five-year pariod for
the SGU ranges from 0% io 15% (2021: 0% o 12%). The terminal growth rate used to
extrapolate the cash fiows of the unif beyond the five-year period is ranging from 2%
o 6% (2021 1% 1o 2%).

(v} Columbarium sendce cash-generating wnit

The recoverable amounl of the stralegic service cash-generaling unit has been
delermined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on
financsal budgets covering a five-year penod. The pre-lax discount rate applied to the
cash flow projections is 13% (2021: 12%). Anticipaled revenue growth rales over the
five-yaar pariod for the CGU ranges from 0% to 5% (2021: 0% to 28%). The terminal
growih rate used 1o extrapolate the cash flows of the unit beyvond the fiva-year period
is 4% (2021 1%),

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculations of the food and beverage, pet care
sarvice, management service and columbarium service cash-generating units for 31
December 2022. The following describes each key assumplion on which management has
based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwall:

Budga! gross margin — The basis used to determing the value assigned fo the budgeted
gross margins is the average gross margins achieved in the year immediately before the
buedget year, increased for expected efficiency improvemenis, and expected market
development.

Growth rates — The forecasied growth rates are based on historical achieved growth rates,
published industry research and growth rates of the industries relevant 1o the CGUs,

Diseount rates — The discount rates used are before tax and reflect specific risks relating to
the relevant units,

As the carmying amounts of the CGUs were determined to be lower than its recoverable
amount, no impairment 1028 was recognised. Should the assumplions not ba met, impairment
loss may be required in the future.

I
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14, OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
USE'000 USE'000 USS'000 USE000
Intangible assat with indefinite i3 15 13 15
Intangible assets with definite 53189 1,588 - =
5332 1,603 13 15

Intangible assets stated with indefnile useful lde

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021

US$000 LS3'000 USs'000 USS'000
Intemet domain nama

Al beginning of year 15 18 15 16

Exchange realignment {2) {1 (2) (1)

AL end of year 13 15 13 15
< 75 -
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14, OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
Intan assets with definite usafl life lives
Patents and Customer
Group licences Software relationships Brand name Total
USE000 USE'000 UEE'000 LISE'000 US5000
31 December 2022

At 1 January 2022:

Caosl 163 161 2,336 - 2 660
Accumulaied

amaostisation and

Impasrment {63) {123) (BBE) - {1,072)
Met carrying amount 100 k! ] 1,450 - 1,588

Cost at 1 January
2022,
net af accumulated
amarisation and

impasrment 100 ] 1,450 - 1,508
Additions - 48 - - 48
Acguisitions of

subsidianes and

businesses

{Mote 33) - 43 2.582 913 3,960
Amartisation provided

during the year (Mote

&) {13} (27} (361) [34) (335]
Exchange realignment {1} (5} [21) BS 58
At 31 December 2022 &8 L 4,150 284 5318

At 31 December 2022:

Cost 162 236 5,280 1.018 6,705
Accumulated
amodtisation and
impairment (76} {137) {1.134) [34) 1,386)
Met carrying amount 88 9 4,150 0E4 5319
- TG -
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14,

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Intangible assets with definite useful lives (continued)

Patents and Customer
Group licences Software relationships Total
LIS5'000 USE000 USE000 USS000

31 December 2021
At 1 January 2021;

Cost 108 186 2,114 2408

Accumulated amortisation and

impairment {21} (134) {B53) (B78)

Mel carrying amounl 17 52 1.481 1.530
Cost at 1 January 2021,

net ol aceumulated amortizaton

and impairment i7 52 1,481 1,530
Additionz 104 19 - 123
Acquisitions of subsidaries and

businesses (Note 33) = = 242 242
Wirite-olf {3 - - i3
Amorlisation provided during the year

{MNale &) {17} (309 (234) (281)
Exchange realignment 1 (3 {19 (23)
At 31 December 2021 100 38 1,450 1,588
At 31 December 2021:

Cost 163 181 2,336 2,660

Accumulated amorisation and

impairment {B3) {123} (BBE) (1.072)
Met carmying amount 100 38 1,450 1.588
B
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¥CP Holdings (Global) Limited

Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial years ended 31 December 2022

15, INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES
Company
2022 2021
USS000 Uss'000

Unquoted equity shares

Al cosl 20,200 15,504
Impairmant - (450
Exchange realignment 485 (1.305)

20,685 13,749

Particulars of the Company's principal subsidianes at 31 December 2022 are set out in
Mote 1 to the financial statements.
16. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE

Group
2022 2021
UsS$000 US5000

Interest in point venlure 28 -

Particulars of the point vemure which is held by the Company is as lollows:

Particulars Percentage of
of issued Place of ownership
Mame shares held incorporation interest Principal activities
TC Strategy Pte. Ltd.  Ordinary Singapore 50 Provision of
shares {2021 Nil) management and
advisory services
Group
2022 2021

US5000 US3'000

Aggregate carmying amouni of the Group's investmeant in a

joint ventlure
- Bhare of nat assels 28 -
Share of the joint venture's loss for the year 2} L

- 78 -
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7. INVESTMEMNTS IN ASSOCIATES

Group
2022 2021
USE'000 USE'000
Intarast in associates - 304

Company
022 2021
Uss'000 USS'000

Particulars of ihe principal associates which ane hald by the Company are as Tollows:

Particulars Percentage
of issued Place ol  of ownership
Mame shares held incorporation  interest Principal activities
Aruki Ordinary Japan Note 33 Operation of
shares {2021; 25%) restaurants in the food
and beverage industry
Barg Ordinary Japan Note 33 Operation of
shares (2021; 25%) restaurants in the food

and beverage industry

The following table iBustrates the aggregate financial information of the Group's associates

that is not individually material:

Aggregate carmying amount of the Gioup's investmeants in
associates

- Shara of nat lisbilities
= Goodwill on acquisition

Share of the associates' (loss)/profit for the year
Share of the associates' other comprehensive losses
Share of the associates' lolal comprehensive (lossyincome

Group
2022 2021
USS Uss
- (8)
- 312
= 304
(32) 1
(5%} (31}
(80) 20

On 1 Seplembar 2022, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement 10 acquirg
the: remaining 75% equity interest in ARUKI Group, The Group recognised a gain on
remeasurement of s 25% invesimenl in associate 1o fair value upon business combnation
of USE455,000 (2021 Nil) under “Cther Income’. Details are described in Note 33 to the

financkal stalements.

- 79 -
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18,

19,

20,

EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
USE'000 USE'000 USS'000 USE000
Equil 15 at fair val
h rl

Listed equity investment 12,502 12,502
Ipet Holdngs, Inc. 8,858 5,858
Unlisted equity investments T2 - T12 -
13214 8858 13,214 8,858

Tha above equity investments at 31 December 2022 was classified as aquity investments at
fair value through profit o loss as the Group had not irevecably elected to classify at fair
value through cther comprehensive income.

The fair value information related to FYTPL - equity instruments is disclosed in Nota 38 to
lhe financial statements,

Az at 31 Decambar 2021, the Group's listed equily investmants wilh a carying valie of
appraximately US$E,858,000 were pledged as secunty for the Group's bank kbans, as further
detailed in Mote 26 (o the inancial statements.

INVENTORIES
Group
2022 2021
US% 000 US5'000
Raw materials 483 132
Finished goods 4,758 2,407
521 2.539
TRADE RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT ASSETS
Group
2022 2021
UESs'000 U000
Trade recaivables 11,555 7,842
Praovision for expected credit loss (72} {56)
11,483 7.786
Contract assels” 1,126 942
12,608 B.728
- B0 -
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT ASSETS (continued)

# Contract assels redate to revenue eamed from ongoing advisory senices. As such,
the balance varies and depends on the number of ongoing advisory services at the
end of the year. The expecled credit losses of contract assels as at 31 December
2022 were considered to be minimal. The expected timing of recovery or setlemeant
for confract assels as at 31 December 2022 is within one year.

The Group's rading lerms with its customers are mainly on credit, excepl for new customers,
where payment in advance is normally required, The credit period is generally one month.
Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over
its outstanding receivables, Owerdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. In view of the afcrementioned and the fact that the Group's trade recaivables
relate to a large number of diversfied customears, there is na significant cancentration of
credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over i1s
trade receivable balances, Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing,

The mowvements in provision for expected credit losses of irade receivables are as follows:

Group

2022 2021

Uss'000 Usg'o00

AL January 56 oe

Acqursition throwgh a subsidiany 14 -

Provision for expected credit loss (Mole B) g &
Amounts written off as uncollectible (7} [45)

Al 31 December 72 56

The Group uses @ provision maltnx to calculate ECLS for trade receivables . The provision
rates are based on days pasi due for groupings of various customer segments wilh similar
loss patterns (i.e., customer type and raling). The calculation reflects the probability-
weighted cutcome, the time value of money and reasonabbs and supportable information that
i& available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written off if uncollectable for more
than one year and are not subject o enforcement activity.

As at 31 December 2022

Past due
Lessthan 1to3d Owver 3
Group Current  1month  months  months Total
Expecled credit loss rale 0.63% 0.28% 1.87% 0.45% 0.63%
Trade mecaivabbes (USS'000) 10,070 679 222 584 11,555
Expecled credil kosses
{US5"000) B3 2 4 3 72

- 81 -
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20, TRADE RECEIVAELES AND CONTRACT ASSETS (continued)
As at 31 December 2021

Past due
Lessthan 1told Owver 3
Group Current 1manth months  months Total
Expacted credil 1055 rate 0.71% 0.24% 1.60% 12.53% 0.7%%
Trade recaivablas (USS'000) 6,645 a7 258 21 7,842
Expected credit losses
(USS'000) 47 2 4 3 58

1. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
USE'000 LISS'000 USS$'000 US5000
Prapaymants 210 geg 7 -
Deposit for acquisition of a
subsidiary (Mole a) 1.546 - 1,548 -
Deposits and oiher receivables 3,085 2517 28 21
Amaunt due from subsidiaries
(MNote b) - - 16,658 1,483
6,851 3185 18,238 1,504

Prepayments, deposils and
ather receivables dassified as
non-current assets {1,763) (871} - -

Current partion 5,088 2314 18,239 1,504

The carrying amount ather receivables approsamata fair value at 31 December 2022, Their
recoverability was assessed with referenca to tha credit status of the deblors, and the
expecled credil losses as atl 31 December 2022 were considened o be minimal.

Motes:
(@) The Company entered into an escrow agreament with the sellers of Auctus to facilitate
payment arangement contermnplated under the sales and purchase agreemeant to

acquire the equity interest in Auctus, Details of the acquisition in Aucius is set out under
Mole 33{c) to the financial statamants.

(b)) Amount due from subsidiaries are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on
demand.

- 82 -
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22, LOAN TONFROM) A SUBSIDIARY

Company
022 2021
Uss'000 US57000
Loan 1o & subsidiary (Note a) 452 522
Loans from a subsidiary (Note b) = {(11.737)
Mates:

(a) The loan lo a subsidiary is unsecured, non-interes! bearing and repayabde an demand.

() At 31 December 2021, the loans from a subsidiary were unsecured, interest bearing
al 1.85% to 2.76% and repayable within one year.

21 CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Group Codmipany

2022 2021 2022 2021
ISE'000 US%'000 Uss'000 US5000
Cash and bank balances 23473 38513 4811 27818
Tirmne deposits - 148 s -
23473 38,861 4811 27818

Less: Pledged ime deposits
(Mote &) - {148) - =
Cash and cash equivalents 23473 38513 4811 27.818

Mote;

{a) Al 31 December 2021, the Group's tima deposits of approximately USS148,000 were
pledged to secure certain banking facilities granted io the Group (Note 26).

Al the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank batances of the Group denomenated in
RME amounted to approximately USS1,045,000 (2021: approximately USS388,000), The
RME is not freely convertible into ather currencies, however, under Mainland China's Forasign
Exchange Conlrol Regulations and Administration of Sellement, Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies
through banks authorised o conduct foreign exchange business.

Cazh at banks sams interest at oating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The bank
balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default,

- 83 -
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24, TRADE PAYABLES
Group
2022 2021
USE'000 USE000

Trade payablas 5482 2533

The irade payables an non-interest-bearing and am normally settled on 30-day terms.

25, OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
USE'000 USS'000 UES'000 USE'000
Contract habilities (Nate a) 41 239 - -
Chher pavables (Note b} 5,447 3.802 - -
Accruals (Nole b) 11,368 7.188 1,771 2,235
Consideration payabbe 360 - - -
Contingent consideration
payable {Note o) 2 466 - - -
Provisions (Note dj 1,355 562 - -
Amount due o subsidiaries
(Mote o) = - G606 125
21,037 11801 2377 2,360
Other payables and accruals
classified as
non-current liabiliies (2,150} (545) - -
Current portion 18,887 11,258 2377 2,360
Motes;

(a) Contract liabifities include short-term advances received o deliver advisory services
The changas in contract labilkties mainly vary and depend on the numbser of short-term
advances receved from customers al the end of the year,

(b1 Oiher payables and accruals are non-interest-bearing and have an average term of
one manth,

{c)  As part of the sales and purchase agreament with the seller of Aucius, a contingent
consideration has been agreed to calculate based on the average eamout ratios
determined by the actual key employees retained, revenue sourced and profitability
achieved by Auctus against the respective targets stipulated in the sales and purchase
agreement. The contingent considerations are payabée in cash in two tranches, falling
on twelve monihs (“Tranche 17) and twenly-four months (“Tranche 2°) from (he
completion date.
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25, OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (continued)

{e}) The potential undiscounted amounts of future payments in respect of the contingent
considarations that the Group could be required to maka to the sellers of Auctus is
the range of approximately INR182,461,000 to INR207,616,000 (equivalent to

approximately US$2 289,000 to US$2,519,000).

Ag al the acquisition date, the fair value of the contingen! consideration for Tranche 1
and Tranche 2 was estimated at INRS8,507,000 (approximately USS1,185,000) and

INR104, 715,000 (approximately LUS$1,271,000) respectively.

Mo fair value adjustment of contingent consideration was recognised in the Group's
profit or kass for the year ended 21 December 2022 as the fair value changes are
assessed 0 be immatenal The fair value of the contingent consideration was
calculated by applying the income approach using the probabdity-weighted pay out

approach.

{d) Provisions periain to the estimated costs of resioring the Group's leased assels,
expected to be utilised at the end of the respective leasa terms. Mavemeant in the

provisions as at 31 Decamber (s as follows:

At 1 January
Additions

Acquisitions through subsidianes and businesses

Utilisation during the year
Exchange realignment

31 December

Group
2022 2021
USS000  US$000
562 580
816 16
156 T
(138) -
(41) {41)
1,355 5682

(e} Amount due to subsidiaries are unsecured. non-interest bearing and repayable on

demand.

- 85 -
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v, LEASE LIABILITIES

The camying amounis of the Group's lease liabilities are as follows:

Amounts payable:
Within one year

In the second to fifth years,

inclusive
Aftar five years

Total minimum lease payments

Future finance charges

Total net kase payshles

Partion classified as cument

liabilities

Mon-current portion

2022 2021
Present Prasent
value of value of
Minimum MiNImum Minimum mimimum
lease lease leasa lease
payments  payments  payments  payments
USS$000 US5000 USS'000 US$'000
3,037 2516 2,368 2271
3,000 3670 1.524 1,629
1,283 042 444 228
7420 Ti28 4,338 4,198
(292) (138)
7128 4,198
(2,516) (2.271)
4812 1,827

Movemems of carrying amounts of lease liabiliies during the year are as follows:

At 1 January
Additions

Acquisitions through subsidianes and businesses (Note 33)

Temmination of Bates
Accretion of interest
Paymenis

Covid-18-related rent concassions from lessors

Exchange realignment

At 31 December

- 88 -
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(401} (872)
100 104
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(31) (121)
(383) {162)
T.128 4,188
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v,

LEASE LIABILITIES (continued)

The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation io leases are as follows:

Interast on lease labilities (Mote 8)

Depreciation charge of righl-of-use assets (Mote 8)

Expenses relating to shon-term leases (Note )

Gain on lermination of leases (Nole 6)

Covid-19-related rent concessions from lessors
Impairment of right-of-use assets (Note §)

Total amount recognesed in profit or loss

Group
2022 2021
USE000 USS'000
100 104
3,225 3,632
1,044 715
(2) (T3)
(31) {121}
- 235
4,336 4,403

The Group had total cash outhows for leases of approximately USS4 292000 (2021:
approximately US54 080,000). The Group alsa had non-cash additions of right-of-use assets
and lease liabiities of approximately US54, 686,000 (2021: approximately US33,499,000),

- 89 -
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8. DEFERRED TAX

The movemenis in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year are as follows:

Defered tax assals
Defined Provision
benefit and other Lease
liabilities Tax losses liabilities  liabilities Tatal
USE000 USS000 USS000  USS'000 USS000
AL January 2021 22 522 T7a 585 1,808
Acquisition of subsidiaries
and businesses
(Note 33) - 282 15 13 310

Deferred tax cradited!
{charged) to prafit or
Ievss during the year

{MNate 10) 4 63 {14) 303 356
Deferred lax credited o

other comprehensive

income during the year

{Maote 28) 2 - - - 2
Exchange realignment {10 (83) (75) (73} (241)

Gross deferred lax assels
at 31 December 2021

and 1 January 2022 18 T84 T05 828 2,335
Acquisition of subsidiaries
and businesses
(Nate 33)
- 183 T4 [:13: ) 1,225

Defarred tax craditad!
(charged) o profit or
Ievss during the year

{Maote 10) (1) 185 am T4 B29
Cafered fax cradited to

other comprehansive

income during tho year

{Mate 20) (1 - - - (1)
Exchange realignment 8 {102} {83) (24) (281)
Gross deferred tax assels

at 31 December 2022 24 1,050 1,357 1476 3,807

- 90 -
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28, DEFERRED TAX {continued)

Deferred tax liabilities
Fair value
adjustments
arising from
Accelerated acquisition
tax of Right-of-use
depreciation subsidiaries  assets Others Total
US5000 Us§'000 US$000 US3'000 UIS5'000
Al January 2021 2 248 577 95 922
Acquisition of
subsidiaries and
businesses
{Mote 33) - - 13 2 15
Deferrad tax cradited to
profit or loss during
(e yesar (Note 10) - {32) 346 &1 A75
Exchange realignment - {1} (T4} {12) (87}
Gross deferred tax
liahilities at
31 December 2021
and 1 January 2022 2 215 862 148 1,225
Acquisition of
subsidiaries and
businesses
{Mote 33) 244 1063 659 24 1.890
Daferred tax
{credited Yeharged fo
prafit or loss during
the year (MNote 10) (38) {50) 39 240 171
Exchange realignment 3 28 (38} (21) (BE)
Gross deferred tax
lighilities at
31 December 2022 191 1.257 1461 389 3208
- 81 -
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8. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

For presentafion purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities within individual
subsidiaries have been offsel in the statement of financial positicn. The following s an
anahysis of the defermaed tax balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes;

Group
2022 2021
USE'000 US3'000

Mot defermed tax assets recognised in the consolidated

statement of financial position 1,815 1,338

Met deferred tax liabilities recognised n the consolidated
statement of financial position {1,308} {229)
GO0a 1.110

Defered tax assals have not been recognised in respect of the following items:
Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
US$'000 USS$'000 USS'000 US5000

Tax losses 2811 3,707 - -

The Group has unrecognised tax losses of approximately US$2.680,000 (2021:
approximately US$2 431,000} thal are avaidable indefinitely for offselting against future
taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose, The Group also has unrecognised
tax losses of approsmately US$231,000 (2021 approximsately US$1,276,000) that will expire
in one 1o ten years for offsetting against future taxable of the companies in which the losses
arose.

Defered tax assats have not been recognised in respect of these losses as they have arnsen
in subsidiaries that is not considered probable that taxable profits will be available against
which the tax losses can be utlised,

- 82 -
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29, DEFINED BENEFIT LIABILITIES

The Group recognised employment benefil kabilties for all is qualifying employees pursuant
1o Indonesia Labour Law Mo, 13/2003, The provision for employment benefits is based on
the calculation by an independent actuary, Kamlor Konsultan Aktuaria Steven & Mourits,
using the projected unlt credit actuarial valuation method,

The movements in the defined banefit liabilities as lolkows:

2022 2021

US3'000 USs'000
At 1 January 1258 101
Service cost
- currant year 31 an
- impact of changes in mathod (42) e
- OVETPIOVISION in previous years - (27)
Interest expense & 5
Actuarial changes arising from:
- changes in demographic assumgtions - -
- ¢hanges in financial assumptions 1 2)
- ¢hanges in experience adjusiments {4) 10
Exchange realignment {11) -
Al 31 December 108 125

The amounts recognised in profit or loss and other comprehensive income in relation to the
defined banefit expense are as follows:

Note 2022 2021
LUsE000 usgooo

Defwied banelit expense charged 16 profit of 1088

Service cost k3| 11
Interest expense <] 5
Adjustment due to change in method (42) -
Deferred tax effect 28 1 (4]

Total amount recognised in profit or loss,
net of tax (4) 12

Actuarial changes arising from:

- ¢changes in demographic assumgtions - =2
- changes in financial assumplions 1 (2)
- changes in experience adjustment {4) 10
Defered tax effect 28 1 (2]

Total amount recognised in olher comprehensiva
income, net of tax (2) 6

" The amoun| denoies less than a thousand dollars
.83 -
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9, DEFINED BENEFIT LIABILITIES (continued)

The principal actuarial assumptions usad as at the end of the reporfing period are as follaws:

2022 2021
Discount rate (%) T.45 T.60
Retirement age (years old) 55 56
Expecied rate of salary increases (%) 10 10

A quarntitative sensitivity analysis for significant assumptions as at the end of the reporting
period is shown below:

2022
Increase/
Increase!  |(decrease) in
(decrease) in defined benafit

rate obligation
% UES000
Discount rate (1) (22)10
Future salary 1) 10422}
2021
Increasel

Increasel  (decreasa) in
{decrease) in defined benefit

rate abligation

% USS000

Discount rate 1) (2227
Future salary 1 2Ti{22)

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined based on 8 method that extrapolatas
the impact on defined benefit iabdlities as a result of reasenable changes in key assumgpticns
accuming at the end of the reporting pericd. The sensitivity analysis is based on a change in
a significant assumption, keeping all other assumptions constanl. The sensitivity analysis
may not be representative of an actual change in the defined benefit liabilities as it is unlikely
that chamges in assumptions would cocur in isolation of one ancther,

0. SHARE CAPITAL

2022 2021
US§000 Us5'000

Issued and fully paid: 21,321,076 (2021; 19,626,676)
ordinary shares 41,182 32,993
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30,  SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as follows:

Number of

shares Share

in issue capital

US5'000
Issue of share upon incorporation (Note a) i =r

Issue of shares upon Reorganisation Exercise under

cemmon control (Mote b) 15,881,275 741
Shares repurchase (Note ¢) (212,462) {168)
Mew shares issuad (Mole d) 32462 162
Issue of shares under initisl public offering (Note ) 3,825,400 28,530
Initial public offering expenses (Nate 1) - (2.672)
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 19,626,676 32,083
Mew shares issued (Nole g) 364,400 2,641
Share issua axpanses (Mate g) - (211)
Issued of shares for acquisition of a subsidiary (Note h) 1,330,900 5,750
At 31 Decomber 2022 21,321,976 41,182

L The amaun! denstas less than a thausand delians
Motes:

(a) ©On 5 March 2021, the Company allofted and issued 1 share of the Company at a
consideration of 531 (equivalent to USS0.75). On 5 May 2021, the Company
redenominated its share capital from 33 ta USS, the existing isswed and paid-up capial
of 581 comprising 1 ardinary share was redenominated to USS0. 75,

(B)  On 5 May 2021, the Company allotted 14,550,000 shares at US$0.033 per share and
1,331,275 shares at USES per shara to YAM, in considaration of (i) the entire assets
and liabilites including the group management senice business owned by YAM,
excapl for the dervative financal instruments, other liabilibes and emploves share
options; and (i) the enfire share ownership of the subsidianes, joint veniure and
associates owned by YAM, as part of the Reorganisation Exercise.

{c) ©On 7 Oclober 2021 and 21 Oclober 2021, the Company repurchased and cancelied
160,000 and 32,462 of its own shares, respeciively, at total cash consideration of
approximately USS168.000 in aggregata.

(d) ©On 18 November 2021, the Company allotted and issued 32,462 ordinary shares for a
cash consideration of approsimately USS162,000,

(8) In connection with the Company's initial public offering, 3,925 400 ordinary shares
were issued al a price of US$7_ 268 per share for a lotal cash consideration, before
share issue expenses, of approximately U5328,530,000,

- 85 -
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30. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(f)  Total listing expenses (incleding underwriting commissions) incurred pursuant 1o the
Company's listing on the Tokyo Siock Exchange amounted to approximataly
USE4,083,000, of which share issuance expenses of approximately US52.672,000
have been deducted against share capital and approximately USS51,411,000 has bean
recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended
31 Decamber 2021,

{g)  ©n 18 January 2022, the Company aver-allotted 364,400 ardinary shares at a price of
USET. 247 per share for a total cash considaration of approximataly US52,6841,000, of
which share issuance expenses of approximately US$211,000 have been deducied
against share capital,

(h)  ©On 23 Movember 2022, the Company issued 1,330,800 ordinary shares as part of the
considaration for the acqussition al in Auctus. The fair value of the shares is calculated
with referance to the quoted price of the shares of the Company at the date of
acquisition, which was approximately US$4.33 per share. The fair value of the
consideration given was therefore approximately US3$5,759,000.

. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein are presentad in the
consolidated staterment of changes in aguity.

Exchange flucfuation rasane

The transiation reserve comprises ail foreign currency differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations and frem the translation of financial lkability
designated as a hedge of net investrment in the foreign operations, as well as foreign
exchange differences on monetary itlems which form part of the Group's nat investmeants in
the foreign aperations.

Defined banelfil reserve

Dafined benafit resarve comprises the gain or ss on remeasurement of defined banefits
plans of cerain subsidiaries. Remeasurements comprising actuanial gains or losses. retum
on plan assels and any change in he effact of the assel ceiling (excluding net inlerest on
defined benefit llabdities are recognised immediately in other comprehensive income in the
period in which they arise ) Remeasurements are recognised in retained profits and are not
redassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.

Merger esene
Merger reserve represenis the difference between the consideration paid and the net assefts

acquied from YAM as part of the Reorgansation Exercise descrnibed in Note 1.2 10 the
financial statements,
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32, SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company operaies bwo share options schemes, namely Pre-IPO share option scheme
and Post-IPO share oplion scheme (collectively, the “Schemes”) for the pumpose of providing
incantives and rewards to eligible parficipants who contribute to the succass of the Group's
operations.

Pre-IPO share option scheme ("Pre-IPQ Scheme”)

Eligible participants of the Pre-IPO Scheme include a director and certain employees of the
Group. The Pre-IPO Scheme became effective on 1 July 2021 and, unless otherwse
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 6 years from the dale of the successiul Bsting
of the Company in any recognised stock exchange ("IPO Date”).

Under the Pre-IPO Scheme, eligible particpants are granted options which only vest an the
conditions that (1) the grantee remain as employee with the Group for 3 years from the IPO
DCeafe; and (1) certain market conditions and performance farget of the Group are mel, Onoce
vested, the options remain exercisable until & years from the IPO Date.

FPast=-IPO share option scheme (“Posl-lPO Scheme”)

Eligible participanis of the Posi-IPO Scheme include certain employees of the Group, The

Schame bacame effactive on 1 Octobar 2022 and, unless otherwisa cancelled or amanded,
will remain in force for & years from each date of grant,

- a7 -
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32, SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
Post-IPO share option scheme [“Posi-IPO Scheme”)(confinued)
Under the Pasi-IPO Scheme, eligible participants are granied options which only vast an the
conditions thal () the grantee remain as employee with the Group for 3 years from the date
of grant; and (i) certain market conditions and perfomancs target of the Group are met
Once vested, the options remain exercisable until 6 years from each date of grant.
{iy  Movements in share options

Movements in the number of share options granted under the Schemes were as

follows:
Pre-IPO Scheme

Weighted Weighted

average average

exercise exgrcise

price per price per
share  Number of share  NMumber of
uss options uss options
ALt January 20214 - = = =
Grant 5.00 1,088,579 E -
Forfeliure 5.00 {3,201) - -
At 31 December 2021 5.00 1,085,378 - -

and at 1 January 2022

Grant 5.00 155,500 4.3 165,000
Forfaiture 5.00 {298 ,533) = =
AL 31 December 2022 5.00 G42 345 4.3 165,000

(i} Outstanding share aplions

Datails of the axarcise poriod, exarcise prices and the respective numbers of share
opticns which remained oulstanding as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

Exercise price Humber of options

Exercise period USE per share 2022 2021

21 December 2024 10 20 December 5.00 789,845 1085378
2027

21 December 2024 10 20 December 5.00 152,500 -
2027

1 October 2025 1o 30 September 2028 4.3 165,000 -

Al the end of the reporling perod, the Company had 1,107,345 (2021: 1,085,378)
shara options outstanding wunder the Schemes. The exercise in full of the outstanding
share options would, under the present capital structure of the Company, resull in the
isswe of 1,107,345 (2021: 1,085 378) additional ordinary shares and additional shara
capitad of USS5 422 875 (2021: USS5,426 890) (before [S5us expenses).

264/306



EDINETOOOO
ODOo00oDOo0oDoooooo0boogOooo(esr220)
oOoOooodn

YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Mobes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial years ended 31 December 2022

32, SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
{iii} Fair value of options

The fair value of the share oplions granted wnder the Schemes during the year was
US52938 688, approximately USS0.93 each opbion (2021: US$851,854, approxsmately
USS0.78 each oplion), of which the Group recognised & share option expenses of
approximately LS$198,000 (2021: approximately US$123,000) during the year ended
31 Decamber 2022.

The fair value of equity-settied share options granted under the Schemes during the year,
was estimated as al the date of grant using a binomial meodel, taking into account
management's besl estimate for the effects of non-transferability and exercise
resfrictions (including the probability of meeting markel conditions attached lo the
options); and terms and conditions upan which the oplions were granted. The following
table lists the inputs to the model used:

Post-IPO
Scheme Pre-IPO Scheme

2022 2022 2021

Dividend yield (%) a4ar 437 4.37
Expected wolatility {3%) 41,12 4157 39.01
Risk-free intarest rate (%) 036 2.43 117
Expected life of options (years) 6.00 572 8.50
Weighted average share price (USS per share) 398 585 4,08

The expectad life of the options is based on tha historical data over the past years and
is nol necessarily indicative of the exercise patlerns hal may octur. The expecied
volatility reflects the assumption thal the historical volatility is indicative of future frends,
which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome,
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33, BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

{a)  ©On 1 July 2022, the Group entered inlo a sales and purchase agreement to Animal
Medica for an aggregate consideration of JPY1,380,000000 (equivalent to
approcimately USS10, 304, 000).

(] ©On 1 September 2022, the Group entered into 8 sale and purchase agreement to
acquire the remaining 75% equily nteérestin Aruki Group, a group principally engaged
inthe operation of restauranis. The total consideration for the equity interest amounied
to JPY 300,000,000 (equivalent to approximalely US$2 071,000}, Subseguent to the
acquisition of the remaining 75% equity interest, the associate investments in Aruki
Group became tha wholly-mened subsidiaries of the Group thereafter,

(€}  On 1 December 2022, the Group completed the acqgusition of 90% share ownarship
in Auctus, a company principally engaged in provision of managemeant and advisory
sefvices, pursuant to a sale and purchase agreement dated 1 November 2022,

As part of the tolal purchase consideralion, both the Group and the remaning 105
shareholders of Auctus (“Auctus Shareholders”) are respectively granied call and put
options (the “Options”) which entities the Group to purchase and Auctus Shareholders
to sall thi remaining 10% share ownership of Auctus respectivaly, exercisable by the
second anniversary of the date of completion,

Considerng the terms of the Options, the Group has the presenl access to the
ownership interest in the remaimning 10% equity inlérast. As such, the direclors has
made an accounting policy cholce o account for the remaining 10% share ownership
as acquired as al (he completion date, and therefore the Group consolidates the 100%
equity interes! of Aucius thereafler

The redemption amount of the Options is performance-adjusied, depending on the
garnout condiions stipulated in the sales and purchase agreament, As Such, tho
Options ara recognized as contingent consideration recorded as a financial liability
measured at fair value, with any excess over the camying amount of the 10% non-
controlling interest recognized es goodwill, fallowing the accounting treatment as in a
business combinaiion. Any subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration are recognized in the statement of profit or 055 and no eamings are
altribuled 1o the non-controlling inleresl.

The estimated toal consideration for the acquisition in Auctus comprises:

{i) Cash consideration of INRS73,480,000 (equivalenl 10 approximalely
LISE7 535 000),

(il Shares of the Company equivaleni to INR44B 040,000 (equivaleni 1o
approximately US35,759,000); and

(i} Comingent consideration in two ranches depending on ihe eamoul condibons
stipulated in the sales and purchase agreemant, payable in cash on the date
faling twelve months and twenty-four months from the complation date.
Accordingly, the Group has deposited INR127 440000 (equivalenl (o
approximately LWS$1,546,000) for the first tranche consideration payout inlo an
ascrow account as disdosed in Nota 21(a) to the financial statements.

- 100 -
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33, BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

(dy  ©On 1 January 2021, the Group entered inlo a sale and purchase agreement (o acquire
the remaining 50% equity interest in MG, a company principally engaged in the
supparling senvice of columbarium, The tolal consideration for the equity inferest
amounted to JPY 16,000,000 (equivalent 1o approximately US5154,000). Subseguent
to the acquisiticn of the remaining 50% equily interest, the joint venture investment in
MG became a wholly-oemed subsidiary of the Group thereafter.

() ©n 1 Mareh 2021, the Group entered into a sake and purchase agreement (o acquire
the 100% equity interest in Sapporo Midorgaoka Veterinary Hospital ("Sapporg’), a
company principally engaged in the operation of veterinary hospital. The total
consideration for the equity interest amounted o JPY127.000,000 {equivalent to
approximately USS1,205,000).

-1 -
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33, BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

The fair values of the idenfifiable assets and fiabiliies of the above acquisitions as at the
dates of acquisitions were as foliows:

2022
Fair value recognised on
acquisition of
Motes  Animal Aruki
Medica Group Auctus Tatal
US5000  USS000  USE000  USEOO0

Property, plant and equipmient 12 4,108 985 163 5,266
Right-of-use assats 12 1,587 479 140 2208
Cither intangible assels 14 45 %33 2,982 3.960
Deferred tax assels 28 133 65 242 440
Inwentories 302 &6 - J58
Trade recaivables 553 211 3,147 381
Prepayments, deposits and other

receivables 880 28 1123 2441
Cash and bank balances 1674 1,281 T80 3,745
Trade payables {1,210) [268) {128) (1.604)
Other payables and aceruals (459) {357) (3,774} (4.600)
Interesl-beanng bank and olher

bomrewings (3,748) (2,458} - {6,208)
Lease liabilities 27 {1,567) [479) (143 (2.208)
Tax payable - - {35) (38)
Deferrad tax liahikties 28 (140} (315) (750) {1,205)
Tolal identifiable nel assels al lai

value 2,248 481 3,751 6,480
Goodwill on acquisitions B,058 2,258" 12,369 22 683
Previously held interest as

associales, al fair value - (BEE) - {668)
Purchase consideration transferred 10,304 2,071 16,120 28,495
Purchase consideraticn transfenmed:
Satisfied by cash 10,304 2071 7.535 19,910
Share issued 30h) - = 5,750 5759
Consideration payable 25 = = 360 360
Contingent consideralion payable 23{e) - - 2 485 2488

10,304 2,071 16,120 28,495
Cash consideration (10,304) (2,071) (7.535) (19,910)
Cash and bank balances acquined 1,674 1,281 T80 3,745
Met cach outfiow (8,630) (T80} (B.755) (16,185}
=102 -
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33, BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

2021
Fair value recegnised on
acquisition of
Motes MG Sappore Total
LS%'000 LS%'000 USs000

Property, plant and equipment 12 a2 50 B2
Right-ol-use assets 12 50 543 593
Other intangible assets 14 i 242 242
Deferred lax assels 28 283 2 205
Inventaries - 42 42
Trade receivables 49 - 49
Prepayments, deposits and other

receivables 14 131 145
Cash and bank balances B9 - 89
Trade payables (4} - (4]
Other payables and accruals (218) (23) [241)
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings {1,887 - {1.897)
Lease liabilities ar {49) {543) (592)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value {1,641) 444 {1,187
Goodwil on acquisitions 1.795 TE1 2.956
Purchase consideration fransferred 154 1,208 1,358
Purchase consideralion iransferred:
Satisfied by cash 154 1,205 1,358
Cash consederation (154) {1.205) (1.358)
Cash and bank balances acquined B9 - ga
Prepaymsent * 154 - 154
Met eash inflow[outfiow) B9 {1,205} (1,118)

- Goodwill ansing fom acquisions of Auclus and Aruki amcunting bo approdmalely
UE812,369,000 and US$2,258.000 are provisional goodwill, The finalisatan of the goodwill
arneant is dependent en the finalisabon of the purchase price allocation.

. The total consideratan for the acquisiton of MG was prepaid in advance in the pror year,

Animal Medica contributed revenue of approximately US$5,795000 and proft of
approximately US$65,000; Aruki Group contributed revenue of approximately US52,108,000
and profit of approximately USS184,000; and Aucius contributed revenue of approximataly
USE8G60,000 and profit of approxmately USS138,000 to the Group for the year ended 31
Decamber 2022, If the business combinations of Animal Medica, Aruki Group and Auctus
tock place at the beginning of the financial year 2022, the revenue and profit of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2022 would have been approdimately US5080,223,000 and
U559,152.000 respectvely.
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33,

BUSINESS COMBIMATIONS [continued)

MG contributed revenue of approwimately USEH1,022,000 and profit of approwsmataly
US$10,000; and Sapporo contributed revenue of approximalely US51,109,000 and profit of
approximately USS$91,000 to the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021, Had tha
business combinations of Sapporo laken place at the beginning of 2021, the revenue and
prafit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 would have been approxmataly
S5V 3,260,000 and US$4,590,000, respectively.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

Curing the financial year ended 31 December 2022, the Group disposed of Koinustep, Inc.
at consideration of JPY7,000,000 (equivalent to approximately US353,000) and deregistered
Solidiance Consulting GmbH,

Curing the financial year ended 31 December 2021, the Group disposed of Aoyama Sweels
Faciory (Thafland) Co., Ltd. al consideration of approsimately THE300,000 (equivalent to
approximately LIS$11.000),

Mote 2022 2021
US5000 Uss000
et assats disposed af:
Property, plant and equipment 12 - T
Inventories 41 3
Trade raceivables 16 17
Prepaymants, deposits and other receivables 2 e
Cash and bank balances 16 8
Trade payables {40} {3)
Other payables and accruals (2T (3)
Interest-baarng bank and other bormowings (28) -
Tax payable (1 -
Total idemsfiable {nel liabilties Yassets al fair vahue (21) 29
Gain/(loss) on disposal of subsidiaries and
businesses 74 (18}
Satisfied by cash 53 i1

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivatents in respect of the disposal of
subsidiarias s as follows:

oOoOooodn

2022 2021
UEs uss
Cash consideration 53 1
Cash and bank balances realised (18} (B)
et infiow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the
disposal of subsidiaries 3F 3
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35, NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

(&)

Major non-cash transactions

During the year 31 December 2022, the Group had non-cash additions o right-of-use
assets and lease l@bilities of approximately US54 686,000 (2021 approximately
US53,498.000) and approximately  USS4,686,000 (2021:

US53,499.000), respectively.

Changes in liabilities arsing from financing activities

Al 1 January 2021

Changes from fimancing cash flows

Mew leases

Increase arising from acquisiion of subsidianes
[Mote 33)

Decrease arising from early termination of leases

Interest expenses

Interest paid classified as financing cash flows

Covid=13-related rent concessions from lessors

Foreign exchange movement

Al 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022

Changes from financing cash Bows

Mew leases

Increase arising from acquisition of subsicianes
[Mote 33)

Decreasing arising from disposal of subsidiaries
[Mote 34)

Decrease arising from early termination of leases

Interest expenses

Interest paid classifed as financing cash lows

Covid-18-related renl concessions from lessors

Foreign exchange movement

Al 31 December 2022
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approsimately
Interast-
bearing bank
and other
borrowings
(excluding
Lease bank
liabilities overdrafts)
USE000 USS000
4. BES 14,618
{3,804) (2,680)
3409 -
593 1,687
(872) -
104 258
(104} (258)
(121} -
(162} (1,260)
4,188 12,595
(3,148) (1,084}
4 GHE =
2,206 6,206
- (28)
(401} =
100 184
{100} 1184)
(31} -
(382) (772)
7128 16,817
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35, MOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continuad)
(&) Tatal cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the consolidated statement of cash flows

is as follows:
2022 202
Uss000 Uss5'000
Within cperating activities 1,044 arz
Within financing activilies 3,248 3,708

4202 4,080

38, RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In addition to the transactions detalled elsewhere in thess financkal statements, the Group
had the following material transactions with the related parties during the year 31 December
2022 and 2021:

(@) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:

2022 2029

US5000 UsS5'000

Shor lerm employes benefils 2835 3467
Share option expensas 15 9
2,850 3476

Further details of the directors’ emoluments ane included in Mote 9 to the financial
statemants,

ar. FINAMCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

2022 2021

USF000 US5000
Financial assats

Financial assels at falr value through profit or loss -
designated ag such upon inliial recognition.
Equity invesimenls at fair value through profit or loss

- Listed equity investment 12,502 B 85A
- Undisted equily iInvesiments 712 -
Amaortized cost;
Trade recaivables 11,483 7.786
Financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other
receivablas 3,085 2517
Cash and bank balances 23473 386681
51,265 57 b2z
= 1“ =

2721306
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ar. FINAMCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)

2022 20
US§000 LUS3'000
Financial liahilities

Amovtized cost:

Trade payables 5,482 2,533
Financial iabiltes included in other payables and accruals 10,028 5,805
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 16,917 12,585
Leasa liahilities T.128 4,188

39,555 251231

38, FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged or seffled between knowledgeable and willing parties in an arm’s length
transaction, other than in a forced or liguidation sale.

Fair value higrarchy

All assets and Rabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the fimancial
statements are calegonsed wilhin the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole;

Level 1— based on guoted prices (unadjusted) in active markels for idenfical assels or
liabiktias

Level 2 - based on valuation technigues for which the lowest bevel input that is significant
{o the falr value measurement is observable, either direclly or indirecily

Level 23— based on valuation technigues for which the lowest hevel input that is significant
{0 the fair value measurement is unobservable

Fair value measurements that use inputs of diferent hierarchy levels are categorised In its
antirety in the sama level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant
to the enlire measurement.

Management has assessed that the fair values of trade recelvabies, deposits and other
receivables, cash and bank balances, trade payables, ather payables and accruals and
current portion of interest-bearing bank and other bomowings approximate (o their canmying
amounts largely due fo the shorl lerm matwities of these instruments, no material change in
creditl nsk of counterparty, or with floating inerest rates.

The fair values of the non-current portion of interest-beanng bank and other borrowings hawve
bean ealculated by discournting the expected future cash flows wsing rates currantly available
for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturiies. The changes in fair
value as a resull of the Group's non-parformance nsk for intarest-bearing bank and other
bormowings &5 at 31 December 2022 were assessed 1o be insignificant

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current ransaction between willing parties, other than in a foread or
liguidation sale
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38, FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following table llustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of tha Group's equity
investments al fair value through profit or 10ss as at 31 December 2022 and 2021:

Financial instrurmerts measured af far value
Fair Value measurement using

Quoted prices  Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
{Lewvel 1) {Lewval 2) {Lewvel 3) Tatal
USS'000 UsSs'000 Uss'000 UsS$'000
31 December 2022
Equity invesimeants
designaled &t falr value
through profit or loss:
Listed equity investment 12,502 - - 12,502
Unilisted eoquity
investments - - Ti2 712
12,502 - 712 13,214
31 December 2021
Equity invesimant
designated at fair value
through profit or 1oss:
Listed eguity investment B.E58 - - B.B58

They have been no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the year (2021: Nil).

The movements in fair value measurement in Level 3 duning the year were as follows:

Unlisted

agquity
investments

US5000
As at 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 -
Addition &01
Exchange realignment 21
As at 31 December 2022 712
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39, FINAMNCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's princpal financial instruments comprise interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings and lease liabilites. The main purpose of these financial instruments s o raise
finance for the Group's operalions. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilites such as trade receivables and wade payables, which anse directlly from s
operations,

The main risks arising from the Group®s financial instruments are interest rate risk, credit risk,
liquidity risk and equity price risk. The directors review and agree policies for managing each
of thesa risks and they are summarised below.

Intevest rate risk

The Group's expasure o the risk of changes in market interest rate risks relates primarily to
the: Group’s interest-bearing bank and other bormowings with fioating interest rates. The
effective interest rates and terms of repaymem of the interest-bearing bank and other
bormowings of the Group are disclosed in Note 26 to the financial statemeants. Inlerest rate
risk is managed on an ongoing basis with the primary objactive of limiting the exdent to which
net interest expense could be affected by adverse movements in interest rates,

Assuming the bank and other bomowings at the end of the reporiing period were outstanding
for the whole year, a 100 basis poant increase/dacrease in inferest rates would
decreasefincrease the Group's profit before fax for the cument year by approxemately
USS169,000 (2021 approximately USS126,000)  In the opinion of the directors, the
sensitivity to the interest rate used above is considered reasonable with the other variables
held constanl

GCredit nsk

Credit risk refers 1o the risk that the counterparty will default on its contractual obligations
resulting in @ loss to the Group. The Group's exposure o credit risk arisas primarily from
trade and other receivables. For other financial assels (mainly cash al banks), the Group
minimisas credit risk by dealing exclusively with high credit rating counterparties,

The Group has adopted & policy of only dealing with creditworthy counferparties. The Group
perfoims ongoing credil evaluation of ils counterpanies’ inancial condition and generally do
not require a collateral,

The Group considers the probability of defaull upon initial recognition of asset and whether
there has been a significant increase in credd risk on an ongoing basis throughout each

reporting periad,

Tha Group has delerminad the default event an a financal asset o be when intermal and/or
extemal information indicates that the financial asset is unlikely 1o be recened ar when there
is significant difficulty of the counterparty.
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a9, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credif Ask (continued)

Ta minimisa credit risk, the Group has developed and maintained the Group's credit risk
gradings (o calegorise exposures acconding o their degree of risk of defaull. The credit rating
information is supplied by publicly available financial information and the Group's own trading
records to rale its major customers and other deblors, The Group considers available
regsmahlﬂ and supportive forward-leoking  information which includes the following
indicators:

. Internal credit raling

= Actual or expected significant adverse changes in business, financial or economic
conditions thal are expected o cause a significant change to the deblor's abslity to
meat its abligations

The Group determined that its financial assets are credit-impaired whern:

- Thera is significant difficulty of the debtor

- A breach of contract, such as a defaull or past due event

- It is becoming probable thal the deblor will enter bankmupbcy or olhar (mancial
recrganisation

The Group calegorises a receivable for potential write-off when (here is evidence indicating
that the debtor is in severa financial difficulty and the deblor has no realistic prospect of
TECOVETY.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on
the Group's credit policy, which is mainly based on past dug information unless other
information is available wilhout undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as at
31 December 2022. The amounts presented ang gross camying amounts for inancial assets.

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
USS000 USEO000  USSO000  USS000  USS'D00
As at 31 December 2022

Trade recaivablas® - - - 11,555 11,555
Contract assets® - - - 1,126 1,126
Financial assels included

in prepayments, deposits

and other receivables

- Merrmal™ 3,085 3005
Cash and bank balances 23473 - - - 23473
26,568 - - 12,681 38248
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a9, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)

12-month
ECLs Litetime ECLs
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
USS000 WUSS000  USS000 USSO000  USS0O00

As at 31 December 2021

Trade recaivables® - - - 7842 7.B42
Contract asseis® - - - Q42 842
Financial assets included

in prepayments, deposils

and other receivablas

= Mormal** 2517 - - - 2817
Cash and bank balances 38,661 - - - 38,661
41,178 - - &.7ed 49,862

For trade recelvables and contract assets to which the Group applies the simpified
approach for impairmant, information is disclosed in Noteé 20 1o the fnancial
statements,

** Tha credit guality of the financial assets includad in prepayments, deposits and othar
receivables is considersd 1o be "normal™ when they are not past due and there is no
information indicaling hat the financial assaels had a significant imereasa in credil risk
since initial recognition, Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assels is
considered 1o be “doubiiul®.

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. 1t is the Group's policy
that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures, In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis.

Furiher quantitative data in respect of the Group's exposure 1o credit risk ansing from trade
receivables and confract assels are disclosed in Note 20 1o the financial statements,

Liguidity risk
The Group monitors s risk 1o a shortage of funds using a recurring liquidity planning tool.
This lool considers the malurity of beth its financial instrumenis and financial assels and

projected cash flows from operations. The Group's objective is to maintain a balance
between continuity of funding and flexibdlity.
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a9, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk {continued)

Thea maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the and of the reporting period,
based on the contraciual undiscounted payments, s as follows:

Within 105 Qver
Ondemand 1 year years 5 years Total

2022 US$000 USS000 US3000  USS000  USS'000
Trade payables - 5482 - - 5482
Financial Habilities included

in olher payables and

accruals - 8751 1.277 = 10,028
Interest-bearing bank and

ather borrowings 1.456 3.009 11,445 1.617 17.527
Leasa liabilities - 3,037 3,080 1.293 7,420

1,456 20,278 15812 2910 40,457

2024
Trade payables - 2,533 - - 2,533
Financial liabilities included

in other payables and

accruals - 5,805 = - 5,805
Interast-beanng bank and

other borrowings 1.724 3,953 6,267 1,117 13,061
Lease liabilties - 2,368 1,968 - 4,336

1,724 14,659 B,235 1417 25,735

Equity price nisk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity securities decrease as a result of
changes in the levals of equity indices and the values of individual securities, The Group is
exposed to equity price fisk arsing from individual listed equity investmenis classified as
equity investment at fair value inrough prafit or loss (Note 18) as at 31 December 2022

The Group's listed investment is listed on the TSE and are valued at quoted markel prices al
the end of the reporting period,
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39, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Equity price risk {confinued)

The markat equity index far the TSE, at the close of busingss of the naarest trading day in
the: yvear to the end of the reponing period, and the respective highest and lowest points

durinig the year were as follows:

2022
Uss'ooo

Wikked index 26

Highllow
UsS$'000

2021 Highfiow
US$'000 US$'000

28 I

The following table demonsirates the sensitivity to every 5% change in the fair values of the
equity investments, with all other variables held constant and before any impact on tax, based
on thair carmying amounis at the and of tha reporting period, For the purposa of this analysis,
for the listed equity invesiments designated at fair value through profit or loss, the impact is

deemed to be on the profit before tax,

2022

Equity investment at fair value through
profil or loss (Note 18)
Listed equity investment
Unlisted equity invastments

2021
Equity investiment alt fair value through
prafit or koss (Mote 18)

Listed equity investment

Olher risk - Foreign currency rsk

Carrying
amountof  Changes in
equity  profit before

investment tax
USS000 USS'000

12 502 628

712 36

13,214 B61
8,858 443

The Group's exposure 1o the nisk of changes in foreign curmency exchange rates relates
primarily to the Group's operating activities to the exten! thal revenue or axpenses
denominated in a currency that is different from the functional currency of the relevant
subsidiaries of the Growp. The Group has no significant foreign curmency nsk because the
transaction cumencies are mainly denominated im the respective local currency af the
operating subsidiaries, prncipally the JPY, SGD, HKS, INR and RMB which are translated
and consolidated to the Group's consolidaled financial slatement in USS.

The directors are of the wiew that the Group's operating cash flows and liquidity are not
subjecd to significant fercign exchange rate risks and therefore no hedging arrangemans
wera made. However, the Group will review and monitor the relevant foreign exchange
axposurg from time to time based on ils business development requirements and may
enter into foreign exchange hedging armangemeants when appropriate.
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40, CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management are lo safeguard the Group's
ability to continue as a going concem and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order o suppart
its busingss and maximise sharehalders' value,

Tha Group manages is capital structure and makes adjustments to # in fight of changes in
economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capilal struclure, the Group may retum
capital to sharehoiders, issue new shares or sell assels (o reduce debl. No changes were
made in the objectves, polices or processes for managing capital during the year ended
3 Decambear 2022.

The Group monitors capital by ensuring that @ maintain a positive net assets value, MNet
assets attributable to owners of the parent represent share capital, exchange fluctuation
resarve and retained profits.  The nat assets value attributable to owners of the parent at
31 December 2022 were as follows:

2022 2021

USE'000 UsS5'000
Share capilal 41,182 32003
Reserves 22,621 17.704
Equity aftributable to owners of the parent 63,803 50,697

a1, SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Cn 11 November 2022, the direclors of the Company resolved 1o apply for tender offer bid
to dispose 468,000 shares of the Group's listed equity investment. The transaction was
completed on 17 January 2023, The gain from disposal is JPY2, 340,000 {approxamately
LS518,000),

On 22 November 2022, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreemant with an
indepandent third party to acquire 100% equity interest in E-Vets, LLC, a company principally
engaged in the pet care hospital business. The estimated consideration amounted to
JEY320,000,000 (equivalent fo approximataly USS2,457,000) and subject to adjustments
based on the financlal perdormance of E-Vets, LLC and dett cutstanding at the completion
date. The acquisition is complated on 4 January 2023,

Subsequent to the year ended 31 December 2022, Lifemate Inc., the Group's whally-owned
subsidiary allotted additional sheres 1o a shareholder of the Group, resulted in a dilution of
the Group's equity interest in Lifemate, Ine from 100% io 50%.

Subsequent o (he year ended 31 December 2022, the Group entered Into a sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party for asset acquisiion of a real estate
property rom EVE, LLC. The consideration i estimated 1o be JPY205,100,000 {equivalant
to approximately US$1.575,000),

Subsequent (o the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group entered info a sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party to acquire 100% equity interest in a
company principally engaged in the pet care hospital business. The telal consideration
amounted 1o JPY330,000,000 (equivalent to approximately USS2,486,000).
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42, APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board
of directors on 24 March 2023,
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41 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS 41.SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
2023 553,000
O) 2023
(i)
2023 21
Consus Global Private Limited SB Invest Pte. Ltd. Consus
Consus

18,724,000

©)) 11,235,000

(b) 3,745,000

(©) Consus

2024 31 2025 31
496,000,000 3,740,000
2023 12
2023 15
100 330,000,000 2,486,000
2023

SOLIA
100% 90

@
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Independent Auditor's Report
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of YCP Holdings (Global) Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”), which comprise the statements of financial position of the Group and the Company as at
31 December 2022, the statement of changes in equity of the Group and the Company and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of comprehensive income and consolidated cash flows
statement of the Group for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial
position and the statement of changes in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the
provisions of the Companies Act 1967 (the “Act”), International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and
Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) (“SFRS(I)”) so as to give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group and the financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2022 and
of the consolidated financial performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of the Group
and changes in equity of the Company for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate
Regulatory Authority (“ACRA”") Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting
Entities (“ACRA Code") together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of
the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that
context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the
matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying financial statements.

301/306



EDINETOIOICIC)
O000000000000000000000C0(E37220)
ooo0000

YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Independent Auditor's Report
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Revenue recognition — in relation to management service revenue stream

The Group recognises revenue from contracts for management service consultancy projects over time, based on
the progress of each contract. The progress is assessed by reference to the stage of completion of the respective
contract activity (i.e., performance obligations) of its projects at the end of each reporting period. The stage of
completion is measured by reference to the cost incurred to date relative to the total estimated cost to satisfy the
performance obligation. These assessments required management to apply significant judgement and make
assumptions and estimates in measuring costs incurred for each performance obligation and total budgeted
contract costs. The subjectivity and complexity involved in these assessments can significantly impact the results of
the Group. Accordingly, we have determined this to be a key audit matter.

We performed the following procedures:

Obtained understanding of the Group’s procedures and processes for recognising revenue from contracts
with customers.

Assessed the basis for the identification of performance obligations and determined that such contract
revenue are recognised over time. Our assessment includes examining project documents and reviewing,
on a sample basis, contractual terms and conditions and discussion with management on the performance
obligations identified.

Assessed contract revenues recognised and project costs incurred, on a sample basis, by comparing
against the relevant contracts and supporting documents which include those that support the staff costs
incurred.

Evaluated reasonableness of management’s estimates used to determine total costs to complete for
individual contracts.

Assessed the arithmetic accuracy of the revenue recognised based on the stage of completion calculations
made for individually significant projects.

Assessed the adequacy of the disclosures of significant accounting policies for revenue from contracts with
customers, judgment and methods used in estimating revenue, contract assets, and contract liabilities.

Impairment assessment of goodwill

As at 31 December 2022, net carrying value of goodwill of the Group amounted to US$35.7 million. The goodwill is
allocated to the respective cash-generating unit (“CGU"). Goodwill is tested for impairment annually by estimating
the recoverable amounts of the CGU using the value-in-use model. Management applied the value-in-use
(discounted cash flow method) to determine the recoverable amounts of the respective CGUs.

We considered the audit of management’s impairment assessment to be a key audit matter because the
assessment process involves management exercising significant judgement and making assumptions of future
market and economic conditions.

We evaluated the appropriateness of CGU identified by management based on our knowledge of the business
acquisition giving rise to the goodwill and our understanding of the current business of the Group.

302/306



EDINETOIOICIC)
O000000000000000000000C0(E37220)
ooo0000

YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Independent Auditor's Report
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Impairment assessment of goodwill (Continued)

We have performed the following procedures:

Performed walkthrough of management’s process of setting budgets on which the cash flow forecasts are
based.

Tested robustness of management’s budgeting process by comparing the actual financial performance
against previously forecasted results.

Assessed the reasonableness of key assumptions used in cash flow projections by comparing them against
future business plans.

Involved our internal specialist in the review of discount and terminal growth rates.

Performed sensitivity analysis, focusing on reasonably possible changes in the key assumptions or discount
rates, and analysed the impact to the recoverable amount.

Reviewed the adequacy of the disclosures made on the goodwill in Note 13 to the financial statements.

Accounting for business combination

During the financial year, the Group has completed the following acquisitions:

(&) 90% equity interest in Auctus Private Limited (“Auctus”) for a total purchase consideration of INR1,049 million
(equivalent to US$13.6 million) via cash and share issuance with a payable earn-out consideration of
INR203.2 million (equivalent to US$2.5 million) for the additional 10% equity interest. The purchase price
allocation (“PPA") exercise for Auctus is provisional,

(b)  100% equity interest Animal Medica Corporation (“Anima Medica”) for a total purchase consideration of
JPY1,380 million (equivalent to US$10.3 million) and;

(c) 75% equity interest in Aruki Co. Ltd (“Aruki”) for a total purchase consideration of JPY300 million (equivalent
to US$2 million). The PPA exercise for Aruki is provisional.

The above acquisitions were accounted for using the acquisition method and the Group performed purchase price
allocation (“PPA”") exercises for each new acquisition during the year as disclosed in Note 33 of the financial
statements.

Significant judgement and estimates were made in the PPA exercises on the identification of intangible assets,
valuation of the acquired assets and liabilities and measurement of the fair value of the new shares issued. Given
the quantitative materiality of these acquisitions, the significant management judgement required in the PPA
exercises, we considered the accounting for the above acquisitions to be a key audit matter.

We have performed the following procedures:

Read the relevant agreements to obtain an understanding of the transaction and the key terms.
Corroborated the identification of the acquired assets based on discussion with management and our
understanding of the target companies.

Engaged our internal valuation specialists to assist us in reviewing the nature and basis of the external party
valuation report and adjustments to the purchase consideration and the acquired assets.

Assessed the competency, capabilities and objectivity of the external valuers by considering their
professional background, reputation and experience in similar industry.
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Accounting for business combination (Continued)

We have performed the following procedures (Continued):

Reviewed the appropriateness of the valuation methodology used by management in the fair valuation of
acquired assets and liabilities, including determining whether the assumptions used in valuing the acquired
intangible assets were consistent with what a market participant would use.

Assessed the adequacy and appropriateness of the disclosures in Note 33 of the financial statements.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in
the annual report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’'s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with the provisions of the Act, SFRS(I) and IFRS, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting
controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised

use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the
preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Independent Auditor's Report
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures
in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Independent Auditor's Report
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those
subsidiary corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in
accordance with the provisions of the Act.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Tan Boon Leong.

Ernst & Young LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore

24 March 2023
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